USE AND INTERRELATION OF MARGINAL ANALYSIS AND OTHER ANALYTICAL PROCESSES BY FARMERS IN DECISION MAKING

3

by

ROBERT WALLACE GREVE

B. S., Kansas State College of Agriculture and Applied Science, 1953

A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Economics and Sociology

KANSAS STATE COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE AND APPLIED SCIENCE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

,	LP				
	2 <i>66</i> 8 T-4 _				
	1957				
	C.2 TABLE OF CONTENTS				
	Doc.				
	INTRODUCTION		•	• • •	1
	THEORETICAL CONCEPTS	• • •	•		2
	Inductive and Deductive Reasoning		•		2
	Figuring Costs and Returns				4
	Marginal Analysis				. 5
	PROCEDURE				7
	The Empirical Data				7
	Questionnaire				. 7
	Sample				. 9
	ANALYSTS				9
	Industive and Dedustive Reasoning				
	Cashe and Bahuma				20
	Costs and returns	•••	•	•••	20
	Hog Production Problem: Average and Marginal Data	• • •	•	•••	20
	Machinery Investment Problem: Average and Marginal	Data	• •	• • •	61
	SUMMARY	• • •	•	•••	85
	Integration of Results		•	• • •	85
	Implications	• • •	•	• • •	87
	ACKNOWLEDGMENT		•		88
	REFERENCES		•		89
	APPENDTY				90

INTRODUCTION

Empirical evidence bearing on the use of analytical processes by farmers when making decisions has not been available. The processes they use or are capable of using have direct implications upon the type of research conducted for and the type of information and training made available to them. This study concentrates upon a consideration of some factual material on processes used and interpretation and meaning of the results.

Analytical processes may be of different degrees of refinement. Marginal analysis is the most exact process, and is regarded as an appropriate technique for solving farm problems. Although these principles are probably touched upon in all college level farm management courses, and an increasing number of experiments and surveys are being designed to yield information of a marginal nature, it is not known which farmers or how many use this process.

It can be reasoned that any farmer who uses marginal analysis must be able to figure costs and returns. In fact, figuring costs and returns, either financially or otherwise, is a part of marginal analysis. A farmer cannot use marginal analysis unless the data are made available to him directly from a study conducted by others or unless he can figure costs and returns. It is therefore argued that for a farmer to use marginal analysis he must be able to figure costs and returns. Not all costs and returns that are figured may be of a marginal nature and some of this figuring may be of value even if it does not lead to a marginal analysis. Its relation to marginal analysis is clear and it is because of this tie that the study of methods farmers use to figure costs and returns were also studied intensively.

On the other hand, figuring costs and returns is a deductive process. It is a thought process the decision maker uses to deduce the outcome of a problem based upon specified assumptions. For this reason type of reasoning forms the first of three major portions of this work.

Type of reasoning forms the first link in the managerial chain. All those farmers who can figure costs and returns and use marginal analysis would be expected to use deductive reasoning.

Likewise, figuring costs and returns is the second link. Some of these farmers who can think deductively can figure costs and returns, and all those farmers using marginal analysis would figure costs and returns.

Moving along the chain this way leads to the farmers using marginal analysis, the ultimate technique with respect to analytical development. Some farmers will use deductive thinking but not figure costs and returns. There will also be some who can reason deductively and figure costs and returns but not use marginal analysis. Some farmers will remain in the chain through the marginal analysis phase.

For each stage in the chain, what will be called "external conditioning factors" will also be related. Examples of these include age, education, net worth, main product, and others.

Three general hypotheses emerge. These are (1) Farmers use or are capable of using deductive reasoning, and this is necessary if they are to also figure costs and returns. (2) Farmers figure costs and returns, and this is necessary if they are to use marginal analysis. (3) The use of each stage of the process is also influenced by external conditioning factors.

THEORETICAL CONCEPTS

Inductive and Deductive Reasoning

Searles (9), p. 4, defines the process of deduction as "methods of correct

reasoning from premises to conclusion, or the methods of supporting conclusions by premises which imply them". He contrasts deduction to induction which he defines as "the method of arriving at general conclusions of varying degrees of probability on the basis of factual evidence". Deduction can be termed the "method of formal proof", while induction is often designated the "method of discovery".

It is generally recognized that both deductive and inductive reasoning are necessary. There is not complete agreement as to the proportions of each that should be used. For example, Haney (4), p. 309, was critical of Ricardo because he felt that the premises upon which he based his work were often merely taken for granted. This suggests that if deductive reasoning is not combined with a certain minimum amount of basic truth obtained by induction, the decision rendered may be a poor one.

According to Searles, "induction provides the groundwork for hypotheses, and deduction explores the logical consequences of the hypotheses, in order to eliminate those that are inconsistent with the facts, while induction again contributes to the verification of the remaining hypothesis."

Knight (8), p. 6, emphasizes the point made by Mill that "we must reason deductively as far as possible, always collating our conclusions with observed facts at every stage."

Information of much value can be obtained by farmers through the process of induction from agricultural colleges, the extension service, and other agencies. Through the use of test plots and experimental farms situated in various type-of-farming areas, factual evidence regarding certain production practices is obtained. To the extent that the experimental farm conditions from which the evidence was obtained are similar to conditions existing on

individual farms direct application of this information can be made by farmers. This serves as an illustration of the usefulness of the inductive method of reasoning.

Weaknesses resulting from the use of induction exclusively by farmers are readily apparent. No two farm units have identical resources, and no privately owned farm is exactly like the experimental farms. It does not appear that it would ever be possible to provide all the data necessary to fit all conditions on all farms. However, if farmers can reason deductively, the problem of providing this mass of data becomes less serious.

Figuring Costs and Returns

For farmers to achieve their goals with the resources they have, cost and return figures must be available to them. These measurements may or may not be in monetary terms, and may be figured in writing or in the head or both. Some farmers will not be able to figure these. For them, the figures will have to be supplied. The problem again is to provide enough costs and returns measures to fit all the conditions and problems meeding solution. The likes and dislikes, the goals of farmers differ. Also, as conditions change, especially costs and prices, the cost and return figures will all need to be changed. The problem of providing all the necessary figures for all conditions, for farmers with all types of goals, again appears formidable.

Some farmers can figure the costs and returns for themselves. If so, then only certain necessary basic data will need to be supplied. The problem here is far less serious. They can figure costs and returns in light of their own goals, and as costs and price levels change, they will have the necessary basic data and can make the adjustments in the costs and returns as needed.

Marginal Analysis

The figuring of costs and returns may be at different levels of analytical refinement. They may be rather crude, perhaps not going beyond averages. Such information may have value in their decision making. For some problems it may be considerably inferior to marginal analysis.

Bradford and Johnson (2), p. 365, describe marginal analysis by stating that "this body of deductive thought processes concentrates upon problems of defining and locating the most profitable combinations of inputs and enterprises as well as the most profitable levels of output." These "most profitable" levels of output for an enterprise occur at the point where the additional cost of producing one more unit of output just equals the additional return obtained from the production of this additional unit.

By use of avorage data it is possible for farmers to determine total profit for an entire enterprise. By dividing this total profit by the number of producing units, the farmer can obtain the average profit per producing unit. Determination of this figure involves figuring costs and returns in one form, and is of some value to the farm operator for planning purposes. A basic weakness of this system is that even though the farmer knows whether or not a profit has been made, it is not possible for him to determine the most profitable level of production. Possibly increasing or decreasing the size of the enterprise would yield a greater total return.

The difference between use of averages and marginals can also be illustrated with Fig. 1. Curve AC is an average cost ourve and curve MC is a marginal cost curve. These are presented as in any elementary textbook of static economic principles, where a firm operates under perfect competition, perfect knowledge, etc. Consider a farmer producing an output of A. His profit equals A ($p = AC_A$). He is considering expanding output. He knows his average costs for an output of B units. He knows that AC is less when output is B than when only A units are produced. He also knows his new profit would be B ($p = AC_B$), which is considerably greater than if only A units are produced.

His profits are not a maximum with B units produced. If marginal data were available to him, he would produce C units, where MC = price, and where profits were a maximum.



Fig. 1. Average and marginal cost curves.

Farmers probably fall into three groups with respect to use of information in marginal form. A first group cannot use it even if made available. A second could use it if made available and a third could reason and figure out data in a marginal form if only certain basic data were made available.

The problem of supplying the necessary information would be the most manageable if large numbers of farmers fell into the third group. Here the problem would consist of teaching farmers economic principles and possibly supplying a minimum of basic data.

Farmers falling in the second group would also need some training in economic principles. Here, however, the problem of supplying all the necessary

data, all in marginal form, for all possible conditions, becomes nearly formidable. It would be most encouraging if a large number of farmers fell in the third group or could be trained so they would fall in that group.

PROCEDURE

The Empirical Data

All data used in this study were obtained by a personal interview survey of 1075 farm managers. This survey was organized and conducted by agricultural economics personnel from Agricultural Experiment Stations in seven of the fourteen North-Central states. The states, and the number of records from each state, are as follows: Kentucky, 124; Ohio, 137; Indiana, 189; Michigan, 229; North Dakota, 129; Iowa, 120; and Kansas, 147. The project, known as <u>The Interstate Managerial Study</u>, was conceived and developed by the Risk and Uncertainty Subcommittee within the North Central Farm Management Research Committee. The services of the Farm Foundation were used to establish the cooperative relations among the participants from the various states.

Questionnaire

Members from the cooperating states, with the assistance of a Sociologist from Michigan State University, formulated the questionnaire, which included 66 questions. Michigan State University accepted the responsibility for training interviewers and coding of the data preparatory to analysis. Most of the data were gathered during the summer of 1954.

The Interstate Managerial Survey was an empirical one dealing with the decision making process in famming. Recently developed managerial concepts suggest that farm management research needs to place more emphasis on the decision making or managerial process. With this goal in mind, survey questions were designed that can be classified functionally as follows:

1. Information needs.

2. Analytical problems and processes in the management function.

5. Expectations.

4. Strategies.

5. Knowledge situations.

6. Applications of risk bearing.

7. Controls.

The assignment here has been narrowed to those questions bearing on the hypotheses as specified above. Questions studied intensively on this particular work are given in the appendix in the exact form in which they were asked. The complete list of questions used in the entire study will be published in a forthcoming publication authored by members of the cooperating states.

Because of the length of the questionnaire, some of the questions were rotated so that no respondent would have to answer all of them. Questions were divided among six separate forms which were used in a fixed rotation. Questions were arranged in such a way as to facilitate anticipated cross tabulation.

Some of the questions in the questionnaire consisted of hypothetical problems set up to gain certain insights, while others dealt with real world problems which the respondent had faced. Many questions were open-ended because there was little basis for predicting what the answers might be, and it was hoped that as wide a range of complete responses as possible would be obtained. Since some of the questions involved difficult concepts such as inductive and deductive reasoning and use of marginal analysis, illustrative cards were prepared for the respondent to use. The cards were designed to clear up certain concepts with which the farmer might be unfamiliar. In some cases farmers were asked to give examples which were designed to ascertain their understanding of certain principles. The examples given were then considered either verified or not verified depending on whether or not they satisfied specified definitions.

Sample

Each participating state indicated the area or areas for sampling and the number of schedules they had the time and money to obtain. Michigan used two survey areas and each of the other states used one area.

The universe was restricted to farms with an average gross income of 2500 dollars or more. Farms with livestock share leases, tobacco share eroppers, and two-family partnerships were excluded because of the probability of dual decision making under such arrangements.

The Statistical Laboratory at Iowa State College assisted with the draming of the sample. A stratified random sample within each selected state area was taken.

ANALYSIS

Inductive and Deductive Reasoning

Type of Reasoning. The importance of deductive reasoning in figuring costs and returns and in the use of marginal analysis has been argued. It is believed necessary to determine if farmers who reason deductively possess characteristics that set them apart from other farmers. A number of characteristics, or variables called "external conditioning factors", were related to type of reasoning. The type of reasoning in turn has been presented in three ways-- (a) Combinations of induction and deduction used, i.e., whether farmers used mainly deduction, mainly induction or a combination, (b) proportion of thinking deductive and (c) verified examples given by farmers. Information in (a) and (b) was obtained directly by question 13 (appendix) while (c) was coded from examples farmers gave to support the type of reasoning they claimed to use.

<u>Combinations of Induction and Deduction</u>. Farmers were asked to indicate which of the two methods or combination of the two methods they used to arrive at conclusions. The responses are related to other variables in Tables 1 and 2.

Sixty-two and two-tenths per cent of the farmers who answered the question said they used a combination of induction and deduction. Eleven and two-tenths per cent used mainly deduction, while mainly induction was used by 25.5 per cent of all farmers questioned. Other answers, were given by 5.2 per cent of the farmers. Approximately three-fourths of the farmers reported using deductive reasoning either alone or in combination with inductive reasoning.

Table 1 is a two-way table showing the influence of different levels of both age and education. The age groups were under 40 years, 40-54.9 years and 55 and above, and the education groups were no more than 8 grades completed and above 8 grades completed. This type of table, which is also used elsewhere in this study, permits the study of responses of farmers of a given age (range) for the two levels of education, or responses of a given level of education for farmers of different ages. This type of information is more detailed than a table where the effects of either age or education

		% ocmbinat	tions of indu	otion and deduc	tion used
Age and education	: Number of: : farmers :	Both induction : and deduction :	Mainly deduction	a Mainly s induction	: Other answers
Education					
Grades 1-8					
Age: White: 40	40	6.02	36 4		
40-54-9	18	52.9	08.0	2000 200 2	05.7
55 and above	111	56.8	05.4	32.4	DE.4
Above 8 grades					
Under 40	126	69-0	19.8	10.5	00.8
40-54.9	109	68.8	11.0	17.4	02.8
55 and above	55	61.8	03.6	32.07	01.8
111 age groups Education					
Grades 1-8	247	55.9	08.5	30.8	04.9
Above 8 grades	290	67.6	13.4	17.2	01.7
111 education levels					
Age					
Under 40	175	66.3	18.9	13.7	1.10
40-54°8	196	61°7	08.7	24.5	1.40
55 and above	166	58.4	04.8	\$2.5	04.2
ull farmers **	637	62.2	11.2	23.5	03.2

11

** Age and education ascertained.

		% of combi	nations of ind	uction and ded	uction used
Factors	: farmers :	Both induction : and deduction :	Mainly deduction	a Mainly induction	: : Other answers*
let worth					
Under \$20.000	148	55.4	16.2	26.4	02.0
\$20.000-\$49.999	234	62.0	1.11	24.4	02.6
\$50,000 and over	126	69.6	07.1	19.8	08.2
lain Product					
Hogs	136	61.0	15.2	22.1	05.7
Wheat	115	54.0	18.6	23.9	03.5
Dairy	85	65.9	05.9	27.1	01.2
Corn and other feed	18	69.1	07.4	22.2	01.2
Beef and sheep	8	66.0	10.0	18.0	06.0
Others **	76	61.8	07.9	26.5	03.9
All farmers	541	62.1	11.5	25.5	5.1

eduction by farmers to not worth and main product. Tahla 2. Relation o

2

*

* Other answers include induction only, deduction only, not ascertainable, neither induction nor deduction, and don't know. ** "Others" includes tobacco, soybeans and flax, beans, vegetables and truck crops, poultry and eggs, and not ascertainable.

is studied by itself across all levels of education or age, respectively, although information in this form is also presented in Table 1 and other tables.

Younger farmers of both the low and high education groups made a greater use of deduction and a lesser use of induction than did older farmers in their respective education groups.

A comparison of responses for farmers in the low education group with those from farmers with more education, with farmers grouped by age, was also made. The better educated farmers used more deduction and less induction than did the low education group, and this relation holds for all age groups.

In the sample studied, the less educated farmers also were older, and vice versa, and the more educated farmers were younger and vice versa. This being true, and because the less educated, and older farmers use more induction while the more educated, and younger farmers use more deduction, it was expected that for responses grouped by age, the relations would be even more exaggerated when no stratification was made for education. Likewise, the same was expected for responses grouped by education when no stratification was made for age. Data in the lower portion of the table, education levels across all age groups and age groups across the two education levels, confirms this. For this reason the two-way table was used so that the effects of age and education might be studied when education and age respectively were somewhat taken into account by stratification.

Table 2 shows the relationship between two other external variables and the use of induction and deduction by farmers. The two variables considered were net worth and the main product produced on the farm.

Fifty-five and four-tenths per cent of the 148 farmers with a net worth of less than \$20,000 said that they used a combination of both induction and deduction to arrive at conclusions. This compared with 69.8 per cent for the 126 farmers who had a net worth of \$50,000 and over. A smaller percentage of farmers with a low net worth used a combination of induction and a higher percentage of them used mainly induction and mainly deduction than did the other farmers.

A comparison was made between answers given by farmers specializing in different products. He clear-out relations were evident with this grouping. It was noted, however, that only 5.9 per cent of the dairy farmers said that they used mainly deduction compared with 11.5 per cent for all the farmers questioned. Possibly the dairy enterprise is better adapted to the use of induction than are other types of production. Once the initial organisation of the dairy enterprise is developed and the physical plant established, it is probable that fewer production adjustments would need to be made than would be true for the production of mest other products.

<u>Proportion of Thinking Deductive</u>. Answers to question 13 yielded information on the number of farmers claiming to do various proportions of their thinking inductively and deductively. The results of the study are as follows;

Proportion of time thinking	Inductive	Deductive
None	0.4	4.1
Less than 1/4	1.5	8.5
About 1/4	7.4	18.5
Between 1/4 and 1/2	5.7	9.4
About 1/2	- 31.1	29.8
Between 1/2 and 3/4	11.6	5.9
About 3/4	17.7	8.3
More than 5/4 but not all	7.8	1.8

A11	4.1	-	0.4
Don't know how much but not all	6.3		6.5
No answer	6.7		7.4

Only the proportion of thinking deductive was singled out for further study in this work. For purposes of analysis, the groups were combined into less than 1/2, about 1/2, more than 1/2, and den't know.

15

Table 5 is a 2-way table showing the influence of age and education upon proportion of thinking deductive. Of the 537 farmers questioned, 40.6 per cent estimated that less than one-half of their thinking was deductive. Thirty per cent felt that about one-half was deductive. Only 15.6 per cent answered that more than one-half of their thinking was deductive, while 15.7 per cent didn't know.

The results shown in Table 3 are very similar to those shown in Table 1. Younger farmers of the low education group indicated a greater proportion of their thinking was deductive than did the older farmers. The same relationship existed in the high education group. Likowise, for given age groups, a smaller percentage of the more highly educated farmers used less than 1/2 deductive thinking and a larger percentage used about 1/2 and a larger percentage used more than 1/2 deductive thinking. When age groups were collapsed, the farmers educated beyond the 8th grade indicated elearly they used more deductive thinking, as did the younger farmers when education levels were not used.

Verification. An effort was made to verify the understandings of induction and deduction. The interviewers asked farmers to give an example of each type of reasoning the farmer claimed to use. The examples given by the farmers were critically analyzed. Verification of understanding of induction Table 3. Relation of use of deductive thinking by farmers to different levels of both age and education for farmers sampled.

			roportion of this	incine doduotiv	2
Age and education	. Number of:	Less than	About 1/9	a More than	a Didn't know
	1 9 70111 707 1	2/4	a /r annau	2 2 2	TOMOTO OT DITA
Education					
Grades 1-8					
Ages					
Under 40	49	42.9	22.4	16.5	18.4
40-54.9	87	48.3	24.1	10.5	17.2
55 and above	III	47.7	25.2	09*8	17.1
Above 8 grades					
Ages					
Under 40	126	32.5	35.7	27.8	4.0
40-54.9	109	28.4	40.4	15.6	15.6
55 and above	55	54.5	21.8	07.3	16.4
All age groups					
Education					1
Grades 1-8	247	47.0	24.5	11.3	17.4
Above 8 grades	290	\$5°2	54.6	19•3	10.7
All education levels					
Ages					
Under 40	175	35.4	52.0	24.6	8.0
40-54.9	196	37.2	33.2	13.5	16.3
55 and above	166	50.0	24.1	0.00	16.8
All farmers *	537	40.6	30.0	15.6	13.7

* Age and education accertained.

and deduction for each farmer depended upon whether or not the example fell within certain definitions of induction and deduction. The following definitions were the ones upon which verifications were baseds

Definition of induction.

- a. A generalized conclusion drawn on the basis of one or more personal observations of anyone's experience.
 - (1) Generalized conclusion.
 - (a) If based on the experience of others the conclusion must refer to more than the respondent's own case.
 - (b) If based on the respondent's own experience conclusion

must refer to more than one further occurrence.

Definition of deduction.

- a. Conclusions must be specific.
- b. Premises must be stated.
- c. There must be some evidence of a reasoned and a reasonable relationship between premises and conclusions.

Not verified.

- a. Does not meet the conditions for induction and/or deduction.
- b. Both are present even though induction only seems to be used in the derivation of the premises for deduction.
- c. Descriptions of behavior without description of thought process.
- d. Blank.
- e. Confusing answer.

These specifications for verification of induction and deduction were rather stringent. As may have been expected percentages of verifications were relatively low. Table 4 shows the percentages of verifications for all farmers sampled and also the relation of verifications to certain external

	8 8	R	of farmers with	lifferent verification	
External variables	eNumber of: : farmers : }	Both induction and deduction verified	Only deduction verified	: Only induction : : verified :	Nei ther verified
Ages			0.00		
40-54-9	192	02.1	03.1	18.2	76.6
55 and above	165	02.4	04.8	18.8	73.9
Educations					
Grades 1-8	241	02.9	01.7	15.3	82.2
Above 8 grades	289	02.1	05.2	22.1	70.6
Not worths					
Under \$20,000	146	02.7	01.4	11.6	84.2
\$20,000-\$49,399	229	01.5	03.1	19.2	76.4
\$50,000 and over	126	04.8	06.3	23.8	65.1
Main products					
Hogs	135	02.2	05.2	15.6	77.0
Wheat	107	04.7	06.5	29.0	59.8
Dairy	85	01.2	03.5	15.3	80.0
Corn and other feed	18	01.2	01.2	17.5	80.2
Beef and sheep	49	04.1	0.0	22.4	73.5
Others *	75	01.5	01.3	08.0	89.3
All farmers	532	2.4	3.6	18.0	75.9

Table 4. Relation of verification of induction and deduction to certain external conditioning factors

:

* "Others" includes tobecco, soybeans and flax, beans, vegetables and truck erops, poultry and eggs, fruit, and not ascertainable.

variables.

Two and four-tenths per cent of the 532 farmers questioned gave replies which verified their understanding of both induction and deduction. A slightly higher percentage gave examples of only deduction that were verified, and 18.0 per cent gave verified examples of inductive thinking. With the prescribed requirements for verification, more than three-fourths of the answers given could not be verified for any of the three categories of reasoning.

Age had only a very slight effect on the percentage of verifications. A direct relationship did appear between level of education and percentages of verifications both for only deduction and only induction. Those farmers with more education had a higher percentage of verifications for these types of thinking.

No definite trend existed between the size of net worth and per cent of verifications. It was noted, however, that the high net worth group was consistently above those with lower net worths in percentages of verification for induction, deduction, and a combination of both. An extremely high percentage of farmers with a low net worth did not give verified answers for either type of reasoning.

The percentages of verifications were fairly consistent for responses of farmers where farmers were grouped according to major product. Wheat farmers, however, did have somewhat higher percentages of verifications than did the others.

In general, the number of farmers giving answers that could not be verified for either of the types of reasoning was so large and the number of farmers giving verified answers was so small that less could be learned from Table 4 than from Tables 1, 2 and 3. <u>Summary</u>. Farmers who use or are capable of using deductive reasoning do possess distinguishing characteristics. There is rather clear evidence that young farmers use more of this type of reasoning, as do farmers with more education.

Costs and Returns

The necessity for figuring costs and returns for marginal analysis has been stated. Question 10, (appendix) was used to determine if farmers figured costs and returns and if so, what method was used to figure. The all farmers line of Table 5 summarises the responses given by the 562 farmers sampled. Only 10.2 per cent of the farmers stid that they did not figure costs and returns. That means that 89.8 per cent figured costs by writing out or by figuring in the head or by both methods. Fifty-two and two-tenths per cent of those who said they sometimes figure costs and returns indicated they do this by writing, compared to 84.6 per cent who sometimes figure these out in the head. The percentages of farmers who figure by writing out only, in the head only, and by both writing and in the head are shown. As might be expected very few farmers (only 3.5 per cent) stated that they figure costs and returns only by writing.

Farmers were asked to give examples of each type of reasoning they claimed to use. These answers were classified as verified or unverified. Thirty-four and eight-tenths per cent were able to give verified examples of both types of reasoning.

A study was made to determine if these farmers figuring costs and returns were different from other farmers. Of the many characteristics that might have been examined, type of reasoning, as observed from answers to questions

						Nof farm	Hers who				
	. Numbe	Te a	W	rite out	-	Figur	e in he	ad		Pintre	
Reasoning	farmer	sfigures	Verified	Un-	s s s deTotels	verified:	Un- Verifie	s ds Total	s Write	In head	a bo both.
Proportion deducti	ve or				-						
Turner sear	8	20.00	24el	11.4	45.5	73.9	17.0	8008	02.3	46.6	23.9
HDOUT 1/2	-	05.0	63.5	06.1	69.4	77.6	18.4	96.0	0.0	28.6	49.0
Hore than 1/2	12	0.0	71.4	04.8	76.2	76.2	09.5	86.7	14.5	23.8	47.6
Type of reasoning											
Inductive	10	0.0	20.0	0.0	20.0	100.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	80.0	20.0
Deductive	47	06.4	42.6	06.4	49.0	78.7	04.3	83.0	04.3	38.5	42.6
Integrated	74	23.0	44.6	0.0	44.6	64.9	08.1	75.0	02.7	52.4	35.1
deductive											
ul farmers	362	10.2	45.6	6.6	52.2	72.07	11.9	84.6	50 est	35.9	34.8

13 and 20, (appendix) and the external conditioning factors age and education were studied.

It has been hypothesised that those farmers figuring costs and returns use deductive reasoning. This hypothesis is tested by the data in Table 5, where the methods used by farmers to figure costs and returns were related to type of reasoning used. These data lend considerable support to the hypothesis as stated.

More than one-half (56.8 per cent) of the 88 farmers who indicated that less than one-half of their thinking was deductive did not figure costs and returns. All of the farmers who said that more than one-half of their thinking was deductive figured costs and returns. The relation between the proportion of deductive reasoning used and the percentages of farmers who figured costs and returns by writing was direct, but approximately equal percentages (all rather high) of farmers in each group figured in the head. A higher percentage of those farmers with about one-half or more deductive thinking gave verified examples of both types of reasoning. A higher percentage of farmers whose thinking was less than one-half deductive figured in the head only, and a higher percentage gave unverified answers for writing out and figuring in the head than did the other groups.

The method of figuring costs and returns was also related to type of reasoning as coded from answers farmers gave on their decision to buy their last major piece of machinery. It was believed that this question, Ho. 20, appendix, was less hypothetical than question 10. Therefore, the figuring of costs and returns can be related to types of reasoning obtained in a different and an independent manner. A fairly large number of answers were coded as deductive (47) and integrated inductive-deductive (74) but only

five replies were coded as inductive (Table 5). Farmers who used the integrated inductive-deductive process or deduction alone to decide on farm machinery purchases tended to write out costs and returns more than these who reasoned inductively, and a higher percentage gave verified answers for both types of figuring. A higher percentage of farmers who solved the machinery problem with only inductive reasoning figured in the head.

The insights gained by relating the method of figuring costs and returns to type of reasoning were similar in the two tests. Relatively more of the farmere using inductive reasoning figured in the head only. For both analyses, a higher percentage of the farmers using deductive reasoning gave verified examples of both types of figuring and a higher percentage wrote out answers.

The effects of various combinations of age and educational levels upon the method used (if any) to figure costs and returns are shown in Table 6. An inverse relationship existed between the age of the farmer and both the percentage of those who figured costs and returns by writing and the percentage who figured both by writing and in the head. The relationships existed for the different age groups for both educational levels. A smaller percentage of the younger farmers indicated that they did not figure costs and returns. The same relations hold when education is studied and age is considered fixed. For given age ranges, the percentage of farmers with more than 8 grades of education was higher for writing out, for verified answers for writing out, for verified answers for figuring in the head, and fer doing both writing out and figuring in the head. Relatively more of the less educated farmers indicated that they did not figure costs and returns.

The pattern of figuring was similar for young farmers and for the more educated farmers, and relatively more of the young farmers were educated. Therefore, when education was studied across all age ranges, or when age was

Age and						of farme	ra who				
Age and s	Numb	ers	s Writ	te out		Figu	re in h	ead :		Figure	
	40	sDo not									
education ef	farme	rstfigure s	sVerified,	Verifie	Total:	Verified:	Un-	Total:	Write out only	an head	Do boti
Education Grades 1-8							3				
Age											
Under 40	57	13.5	48.6	16.2	64.8	64.9	10.8	75.7	08.1	21.6	54.1
40-54.9	8	16.0	36.0	04.0	40.0	70.0	10.0	80.0	02.0	44.0	36.0
55 and above	67	0.60	28.4	07.5	36.9	74.6	15.4	88.0	01.5	52.2	32.8
Above 8 grades											
Age the second s			-				-	-			
An-FA-Q	-	4.00 a. 70	00.00	00.4	60%•8	10.5	12.8	88.02	04.5	26.6	8°.63
55 and above	27	14.8	53° 5	05.7	57.0	66.7	14.8	81.5	2.50	48.1	35.5
								-		-	
All age groups Education											
Grades 1-8	154	12.5	55.7	08.4	44.1	70.8	11.7	82.5	05.2	42.2	20-0
Abeve 8 gredes	198	1.80	54.5	04.5	59°0	75.3	11.6	86.9	02.0	30.8	54.0
All education levels											
Age											
Under 40	131	08.4	55.7	09.2	64.9	72.5	12.2	84.7	05.3	25.2	68.0
40-54.9	127	11.0	48.8	05.1	51.9	74.8	09.4	84.2	01.6	55.4	47.2
55 and above	94	10.6	29.8	06.4	36.2	72.5	13.8	86.1	02.1	51.1	33.0
All farmers *	352	6.60	46.5	06.2	52.5	73.8	3.11	84.0	6 30	9 25	

studied across all education levels, the relations were even more pronounced. Here, the 198 farmers with more than 8 grades of education, and the 131 young farmers, were both characterised by relatively smaller numbers that do not figure at all, and by relatively larger numbers that write out, that both write out and figure in the head, and that gave verified examples of writing out.

The entire ploture for the effect of age and education on figuring costs and returns, Table 5, was as expected, given the background of analysis to this point. In Table 5 there were relations that indicated that among farmers who used more deductive reasoning, the percentages were higher for writing out, giving verified answers for both types of figuring and lower for not figuring out. In Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4, there was evidence that relatively more of the educated farmers and relatively more of the younger farmers used deductive reasoning. Because there was a pattern between deductive thinking and for figuring costs and returns, and because there was also a relation between age and education and deductive reasoning, the same pattern might be expected for the study of figuring costs and returns and age and education when they were related directly. This common pattern was determined.

The analysis thus has proceeded to the figuring costs and returns step. A pattern has been developed by studying in order deductive reasoning and then figuring costs and returns, and by studying figuring costs and returns directly without going through the reasoning phase. The work has been built sufficiently that the final step, marginal analysis, may now be examined.

Hog Production Problem: Average and Marginal Data

Farmer Use of Economic Analysis. Information on farmer use of economic analysis in decision making was obtained through the use of two hypothetical

questions (11 and 12, appendix) and three questions on real responses of farmers on quantities of products produced and inputs used (17, 18, 20, appendix). This analysis was restricted to a study of responses to the hypothetical questions, with the responses to the other questions used only as they night be related to responses obtained from the questions studied intensively.

One hypothetical question covered the most profitable number of litters of pigs to produce, and the second doalt with the most profitable level of machinery investment. It was hoped that farmers would see these as general and not specific problems. Farmers were given a card with the questions stated.

Data, both averages and marginals were a part of each question. Farmers were asked to appraise the adequacy of the data in each form toward solving the problem. The purpose of these two questions was to test farmers understanding of average and marginal analysis.

Hog Froblem. A problem was set up in which a farmer must decide whether the hog enterprise should be expanded beyond 15 litters. The price of hogs was assumed given, and each litter was assumed to gross \$270. If the enterprise were expanded, per litter costs would rise. The question put to 356 farmers, for data in average form, part (a) of question 11, and for data in marginal form, part (b) of question 11, was as follows: Was this enough information to tell how many litters should be raised? If so, then how many litters should be raised?

Responses to the data in average form were studied first, and the responses to the data in marginal form were studied second.

Data in Average Form. It was demonstrated that data in marginal form permits an exact solution and is more valuable than data in average form.

Although a considerable amount of data is presented to farmers in average form, there is at least some theoretical question as to the appropriateness of data in average form in decision making. Do farmers recognize that data in average form is not adequate to determine exact solutions to problems as the most profitable number of litters of hogs to produce? The immediate discussion, covering four tables, was included to yield insights toward answering that question. Farmer response to data in average form for the hog problem, is studied with respect to four other types of factors--(a) the figuring of costs and returns, (b) type of reasoning and approach to farm organization, (c) external conditioning factors and (d) real responses indicated for products and inputs. The responses of farmers to the data were studied against these considerations to yield characteristics that set apart these farmers who think such data are not all that are needed.

The everall responses to the question were as follows: Winety-one of the 356 farmers said that the average data were sufficient to determine how many litters should be produced, and all of them indicated the number of litters to be produced. Eleven farmers said the information was adequate, but did not give the number of litters to be produced. One hundred eighty-four farmers indicated the average information was inadequate for determining the most profitable number of litters. Sixty-three of the farmers replied that they didn't know, while seven left this part of the question unanswered. The mumber of farmers giving "don't know" and "no answer" responses was large.

The answers given by the farmers were re-grouped for analysis. Those who said that average data were adequate (whether or not they indicated the number of litters to produce) were placed in one group. Their answers to the question were judged inaccurate. The second group consisted of those who indicated that average data were not adequate, and they were judged to

have answered the question correctly. The third group consisted of those who said that they didn't know or that gave no answer.

Of the 356 farmers in the three groups, 51.7 per cent of them correctly indicated that the data given were not adequate for determining the number of litters to produce. Twenty eight and seven-tenths per cent of them incorrectly determined the average data to be adequate, while 19.7 per cent didn't know.

Methods of Figuring Costs and Returns. The relation between methods used to figure costs and returns and ability to judge that the avorage data were not adequate is shown in Table 7. Analysis of this table indicated only a slight difference among percentages of correct answers given by farmers who figure by writing out, those who figure in the head, and those who do not figure. The percentages of correct answers were slightly higher for those groups who figure either by writing or by figuring in the head than for those who said that they did not figure costs and returns. Farmers giving verified examples for both types of figuring gave a higher percentage of correct answers and a lesser percentage of don't know answers than did all farmers. Thus there is some, although not a marked relation between figuring costs and returns and answers that were empected to this problem.

Type of Reasoning and Approach to Farm Organization. The relation of deductive reasoning, figuring costs and returns, and marginal analysis has been hypothesized. Extending that reasoning to analysis using averages, an investigation was made to determine if those using deductive reasoning saw the need for more extensive information than data in average form. The farmers using a combination of induction and deduction to arrive at conclusions show a slightly higher percentage of correct answers than the groups Table 7. Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form in determining level of hog production to methods used to figure costs and returns.

11 1

ŝ

;

	1		Sof farmers who		
Method of figuring	: Number of : farmers	: Indicated average data were adequate	Indicated average : data were not : adequate :	Didn't know	
Does not figure Writes out	8	22.2	55.6	22.2	
Verified	86	50.2	69.8	10.5	
Unvertited	17	41.2	62.9	5.9	
All writing out	105	32•0	58.5	9.7	
Figures in head					
Verified	138	24.6	62.3	13.0	
Unverified	27	53.03	48.1	18.5	
All figuring in head	165	26.1	60.0	13.9	
Figures					
By writing only	4	28.6	42.9	28.6	
In head only	69	13.8	58°0	23.2	
Both by writing and in head both verified	62	29•0	66.1	4.8	
All farmers	356	28 . 7	61.7	19.7	

using only induction or deduction (Table 8). This implies some value may be placed upon the use of a combination of the two types of reasoning to arrive at conclusions.

Farmers verified understandings of induction and/or deduction were also related to responses given to the hog data in average form. Eighty-three and three-tenths per cent of those giving verified examples of both induction and deduction correctly said that the average data were not adequate for determining the number of litters to produce. This compares with 75.0 per cent for those with verification of deduction only, and with only 56.4 per cent for those with verification of induction only. None of the farmers giving verified examples of both inductive and deductive reasoning said the average data were adequate, whereas 1/3 of the farmers giving a verified example of inductive reasoning said the data were adequate.

The relations of type of reasoning to answers to the hog problem data in average form were not clear. The only possible generalization is that more of those farmers using both inductive and deductive reasoning recognized the need for more information than did other groups.

Approach to farm organisation was also studied at this point. Many if not all of the approaches involve deductive reasoning. Farmers using different approaches did not, in general, answer the problem differently. However, a slightly higher percentage of farmers using the livestock approach (starts with conception of ideal number of livestock to maintain and adjusts other resources accordingly) correctly judged the fallacy of attempting to use data in average form to determine the exact level of production when applied to a livestock problem.

External Conditioning Factors. Educational level appeared to have some

Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form in determining level of hog production to type of reasoning and approach to farm erganization. Table 8.

-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	% of farmers who	
Type of reasoning a and approach a	farmers	: Indicated average : :data were adequate : :	Indicated average data were not adequate	: Didn't know
Combinations of induction and deduction used				
Both induction and deduction	110	26.4	61.8	11.8
Mainly deduction	16	37.5	45.8	18.8
Mainly induction -	19	21.6	58.8	19.6
Other answers *	4	28.6	42.9	28.6
Verification of:				
Both induction and deduction	8	0.0	83.5	16.7
Deduction only	4	25.0	75.0	0.0
Induction only	59	35.3	56.4	10.3
Feither induction nor				
deduction	121	26.0	58.8	15.3
upproach to farm organization				
Land use	77	27.3	44.2	28.6
Livestock	19	26.3	52.6	21.1
Simultaneous	29	48.5	57.9	13.8
Price expectation	0	37.5	37.5	25.0
Other **	39	28.2	46°2	25.6
dl farmers	356	28.7	51.7	19.7

* Other answers include induction only, deduction only, not ascertainable, neither induction nor deduction, and don't know.

** Other approaches include labor use, income or debt payment, and special market.

positive effect on the percentage of correct answers given, Table 9. Fiftyfour and six-tenths per cent of the 165 farmers who had completed more than eight grades correctly indicated the limitations of the average figures. This compares with 48.2 per cent of correct answers by these with less education. However, the more educated group also had a higher percentage of incorrect answers, while relatively more of the less educated group didn't know.

The age level of the farmers seemed to have little effect on their ability to judge data in average form as applied to the hog problem. About one-half of the farmers in each age group correctly judged the marginal data as not adequate for determining the most profitable number of litters to produce. It was noted, however, that the older farmers gave relatively fewer incorrect answers and relatively more don't know answers than did the younger farmers.

Grouping the farmers according to equity position failed to reveal any definite relations. Low equity farmers gave a higher percentage of both correct and incorrect answers to the hog problem than did the high equity group. The percentage of farmers in the high equity group that indicated that they didn't know was higher than for the low equity group.

The percentages of correct answers given by farmers classified according to level of net worth suggested no observable influence of this factor. Percentages of correct answers for the low, medium, and high net worth groups were all approximately 50 per cent, or 54.9, 50.3, and 51.1 per cent respectively.

The answers given by farmers specializing in different products revealed that the livestock producers (those whose main product was either hogs, dairy, or beef and sheep) gave a higher percentage of correct answers to this part

		-	s of farmers who	
External Variables	: Number of : farmers :	: Indicated average : : data were adequate : :	Indicated average : data were not : adequate	Didn't know
Education				
Grades 1-8	168	25.0	48.9	0 00
Above 8 grades	185	\$2.4	54.6	15.0
Age				
Under 40	120	34.2	62. K	14.4
40-54.9	125	30.4	49.6	0.00
55 and above	109	21.1	52.3	26.6
Squi ty				
Greater than 95%	188	26.1	48.4	25.5
95% or less	154	35.8	51.5	12.7
let Worth				
Under \$20,000	102	28.4	54.9	18.7
\$20,000-\$49,999	147	32.0	50.5	17.9
\$50,000 and over	32	23.9	51.1	26.0
lain Product				
Hoga	16	23.1	59.5	17.6
Wheat	75	35.3	51 P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	33.4
Dairy	55	18.2	65.5	16.4
Corn and other feed	42	35.7	47.6	16.7
Beef and sheep	43	32.6	51.2	16.5
Others *	8	34.0	54.0	12.0
Il farmers	356	28.7	51.7	19.7

Table 9. Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form in determining lavel of hog production to certain external conditioning factors for farmers sampled.

-

of the hog problem than did those who specialized in grain production, (wheat, or corn and other feed). Possibly familiarity with livestock production problems aided the livestock farmers in determining the inadequacy of average data for determining the most profitable level of hog production.

Real Responses to Outputs and Inputs. In connection with Fig. 1 it was argued that the optimum output was that output for which the marginal cost and price were equal. Therefore, the marginal cost curve traces out a supply curve of the firm for the product. Some farmers indicated that they responded to price. Then it could be reasoned that they might adjust by moving along a marginal cost curve and hence to use marginal analysis. One step further, it might be reasoned that farmers responding to price might need more information than data in average form to determine what level of production (here, number of litters) was optimum.

The same argument might be used for changes in the quantity of an input used.



Fig. 2. Value of marginal product curve.

The optimum level of use of the input is at the point where the price of a unit of the input is equal to the value of its marginal product. The value of marginal product curve forms a demand curve of the firm for the product. It might be reasoned that a farmer responding to changes in the input price
might move along a value of marginal produce curve and hence to use marginal analysis. Then, the last step in the argument, farmers responding to prices of an input might be expected to need marginal data and to not appraise data in average form as adequate.

For the types of problems where Figs. 1 and 2 represent theoretical solutions, there are some factors that are fixed, or what Bradford and Johnson (2), p. 133, call "fixed assets". Some farmers indicated that these factors determined their output. Although it can be demonstrated that responding to these considerations is also marginal analysis, it is measonable to believe that these farmers may not be as conscious of the need for data in marginal form as those farmers responding to price, and fewer of them may indicate the inadequacy of data in average form.

Information on how farmers decided about the quantity of product to produce was obtained by using question 17, (appendix). A number of factors to which farmers responded were coded, but only two were related to answers to the hog problem. These were (1) adjustments to price, price changes or price expectations, and (2) adjustments to limitations placed on production by feed supply and/or livestock.

The 26 farmers who adjusted to price were better able to indicate the inadequacy of average figures than were the 98 farmers who adjusted to feed supply and/or livestock. A relatively smaller number of them also indicated that average data were adequate.

Adjustments farmers made in the use of certain inputs used in production when prices of these inputs changed was revealed by answers to question 18, (appendix). Replies were coded as, "made no change", "changed" and "not ascertainable", and farmers were grouped according to these answers. A larger percentage of the farmers who made adjustments to input price changes correctly indicated that the average figures were inadequate for determining the most profitable number of litters of pigs to produce. Also, a smaller percentage of them indicated that the average data were adequate.

In general, then, data in Table 10 provide evidence that a farmer's responsiveness to price and input cost changes has a direct relationship to his ability to understand the fallacy of attempting to figure levels of production by the use of data in average form. Relatively more of them indicated that average data were not adequate and relatively fewer indicated that average data were adequate.

Summary. Groups that most nearly handled this question correctly (i.e., indicated average data were not adequate or did not indicate average data were accurate), were farmers with the following characteristics: gave verified examples of both types of figuring, used both inductive and deductive thinking, used the livestock approach to farm organisation, produced livestock, and made real responses to price changes.

Marginal Data. The 356 farmers who answered part (a) of the hog production problem regarding the adequacy of average data for figuring the most profitable level of hog production were then asked to appraise the adequacy of data in marginal form (part b). Again, they were asked to judge the data in terms of adequacy in determining the number of litters to produce, and if they thought the data were adequate, they were asked to indicate the optimum number of litters. The previous analysis was concerned with the farmers' abilities to recognize that average data were not adequate. The farmers were first given insufficient data to solve the problem, and were asked, in essence, if more data were needed. In part (b) they were asked to indicate their understanding of a superior method of figuring costs and returns (marginal

			% of farmers who		
Adjustment	: Number of farmers	: Indicated average data were adequate :	a Indicated average : data were not : adequate :	Didn't know	
Decision about quantity of product to produce			÷.		
Adjusted to price	26	26.9	53.8	19.2	
Adjusted to feed	98	54.7	46.9	18.4	
supply and/or livestock					
Decision about input guantity					
shanges to input price changes					
Made no change	76	30.3	60.5	09+2	
Changed	60	16.7	65.0	18.3	
Not ascertainable	48	51.2	47.9	20.6	
11. farmers	356	28.7	51.7	19.7	

Table 10. Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form in determining

analysis) to the same hog problem, but with the data in a different form. A theoretical argument for marginal analysis was presented. The purpose of this section is to test empirically the use of marginal analysis as hypothesized above.

In the problem asked, a farmer was supposed already producing 15 litters of pigs, as in part (a), analyzed above. A schedule was presented to the respondent telling him how much each additional litter would add to or subtract from total returns. These figures were assumed single valued, but some farmers answered the problem under other assumptions. The situation was the same as in part (a), data in average form. The price of hogs was given, and each litter was assumed to gross the same amount. However, costs were inoreasing and the profit or loss for each litter was found by subtracting these increasing marginal costs per litter from the gross of \$270 per litter. Not all of these data were explicit in the statement given the farmer. It is believed that the question as stated contained the optimum information for the purpose at hand, and that more facts would have confused most of the farmers more than helping them.

Responses were originally classified as indicated in the following outline:

Group Number	Response	Number of farmers
	A. Data were adequate to determine number of litters and	
1	20 litters were given for most profitable level.	48
2	21 litters were given for most profitable level.	1
8	22 litters were given for most profitable level.	47

	Some other number was given for most profitable level.	129
	No answer was given for number of litters	10
в.	Data were not adequate to determine number of litters	62
с.	Response did not indicate either that data were adequate or not adequate.	
	Farmer didn't know as to adequacy	50
	Part (b) of hog question not answered.	9
	Total	356

The "correct" answer to the problem with the data as given and the assumptions, both explicit and implicit, was, of course, 22 litters. Total profits for any other number of litters would be less than for this level of output.

For purposes of analysis the answers were regrouped, and some alternate groupings seemed logical. One group consisted of those answers from farmers indicating the exact number of litters (22), and these responses were called "the most profitable point". A second group comprised the answers 20, 21, and 22 litters, and these responses were called "acceptably correct answer". Here, the definition of "exact" was made slightly less stringent. The main reason for this grouping was that many of the assumptions implicit in the problem may not have been understood by the farmer. He may still have been making an allowance for such things as uncertainty of the data, for some costs such as less leisure that he didn't think wore included in the costs, and for limitations in his own situation as feed, buildings and labor. Lastly, because of the hypothetical nature of the problem, the "arithmetics" of it, and the short period of time the farmer had to think about the problem, it was believed important to study these answers as a group.

A third group consisted of all those farmers who recognized the marginal data as adequate for solving the problem. The interpretation of these answers differs from that for the groups of answers 22 exactly or 20, 21, and 22. Although some of these farmers gave an answer other than 20, 21, or 22 litters, or no answer at all as to number of litters, it was believed that some insights could be gained by observing characteristics of farmers who recognized that data in marginal form were adequate, even though some of them did not give the "right" answer to the number of litters.

A fourth group of answers were those "not adequate" and a fifth group were from farmers who said they didn't know as to the adequacy or that didn't answer the question.

While only 15.2 per cent of the farmers gave 22 litters as the most profitable size of enterprise, 27.0 per cent gave as an answer 20, 21 or 22 litters and nearly 2/5 of the farmers indicated that the marginal data were adequate. Only 17.4 per cent indicated the data were not adequate but a rather large number (16.6 per cent) didn't know.

Responses as grouped were related to various characteristics of farmers as hypothesized. The relations successively studied, as for part (a) are (a) the figuring of costs and returns, (b) type of reasoning, (c) external conditioning factors, and (d) real responses to quantities of products produced and inputs used.

Figuring Costs and Returns. Farmers showing a high degree of understanding of marginal analysis would determine the most profitable point (22 litters) or give an acceptably correct answer (20, 21 or 22 litters) or at least recognize the adequacy of data in marginal form. Few such farmers should indicate that data in marginal form are not adequate, and, of course.

few should give "didn't know" answers. These were the criteria used in evaluating the understanding of marginal analysis.

Farmers figuring costs and returns were expected to show more of an understanding of marginal analysis than other farmers. There are a large number of relations, Table 11, that confirm that this was the case for the farmers sampled.

Those farmers giving verified answers for both types of figuring demonstrated a superior understanding of marginal analysis to those farmers who do not figure, for all the oriterion listed above. Only 1/3 of the farmers who did not figure could as much as recognize that the data were adequate, while 74.2 per cent of the farmers giving verified examples of both types of figuring recognized the data as adequate, 22.6 per cent were even able to choose the most profitable point and 40.5 per cent gave 20, 21 or 22 litters as the answer. They also demonstrated somewhat more knowledge than those who figure by writing and considerably more than those who figure in the head only.

No generalizations can be drawn for differences in understanding for those giving verified and unverified answers, for either writing out or figuring in the head. All farmers writing out, however, demonstrated superior understanding to all farmers figuring in the head. About threefourths of those who figured costs and returns by writing and more than two-thirds of those who figured costs and returns in the head correctly recognized the data in marginal form as adequate. Only one-third of the nine farmers who did not figure costs and returns recognized the data as adequate.

Type of Reasoning and Approach to Farm Organization. It was demonstrated

Table 11. Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in marginal form in determining level of hor production to methods used to figure conte and refutmas.

;

			2 ×	f farmers	who	
Method of figuring	: Number of : farmers :	: Determined: : most : : profitable: : point :	Gave : Acceptably: Correct : Answer :	Recognised marginal data as adequate	: Indicated : : marginal : : data were not:	Didn't know
Does not figure	6	0.0	11.1	33.5	33. S	35.5
Writes out						
Verified	86	18.6	36.0	74.4	14.0	9.11
ATT	17	5.3	23.5	76.5	17.6	10-14
and Shinish Tto	103	16.5	34.0	74.8	14.6	10.7
Figures in head						
Verified	138	13.0	26.8	66.7	19.6	15.8
ATT PR mumber in ters	27	14.8	29.6	85.2	5.7	1-11
BHAU HT SHEINGTT TO	COT	13.5	27.3	69.7	17.0	13.5
Figures						
By writing only	4	0.0	42.08	57.1	74.8	0 00
In head only Both by writing and in head	69	7.2	17.4	59.4	20.5	20.5
both verified	62	22.6	40.5	74.2	16.1	9.7
All furmers	356	18.2	27.0	66.0	17.4	16.6

that those farmers who figure costs and returns show more knowledge of marginal analysis. It was also demonstrated that a higher percentage of those farmers who use deductive reasoning also figure costs and returns. Therefore, it might be expected that there is a relation between type of reasoning and understanding of marginal analysis. Data in Tables 12 and 13, although with some irregularities, show that this was true for the farmers studied.

The highest degree of understanding of marginal analysis was shown by those farmers using mainly deduction, followed in order of understanding by farmers using both induction and deduction and by farmers using mainly induction, Table 12. These relations were very clear for all criteria of understanding. For the group of farmers using mainly deduction, 51.5 per cent determined the most profitable point, 1/2 gave an acceptably correct answer and 3/4 recognized the data as adequate. The corresponding percentages for the group using mainly induction were 5.9, 21.6 and 56.8 per cent, and the respective figures for the group using both induction and deduction fell between the percentages given by the group using mainly deduction and those given by the group using mainly induction.

The pattern of understanding was roughly similar where farmers were grouped on the basis of proportion of thinking deductive. A smaller percentage of the farmers whose thinking was less than 1/2 deductive demonstrated an understanding of marginal analysis than did the other farmers. This was especially true for the criterion "most profitable point", selected by only 4.5 per cent of these farmers. The group whose thinking was about 1/2 deductive ranked ahead of the group whose thinking was more than 1/2 deductive. These results, although not greatly different between the two groups, do not

Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in marginal form in determining level of hog production to type of reasoning. Table 12.

:

-			1 30 %	armers who		
Type of reasoning	farmor of	: Determined : shoat profit-: table point :	Gave accept-: ably correct: answer :	Recognized marginal data as adecuate	: Said marginal data were	E Didn't
Combinations of induction and deduction used						-
Both induction and deduction	OTT	15.6	28.1	70.0	18.9	9.11
notion deduction	16	31.3	50.0	75.0	12.5	12.5
Other answers *	5	03.9	21.6	58.8	21.6	19.6
+ BIDAGTR TATE		0.0	0.0	57.1	0.0	42.8
Propertion of thinking deductive						
About 1/2	88	04.5	17.0	61.4	22.7	15.9
Howe then 1/9	49	22.4	44.9	83.7	8.2	8.2
Part & Durant af 2	12	23.8	33.5	76.2	14.5	9.5
MONTY & MARY	92	07.7	19.2	46°2	23.1	30.8
All farmers	356	13.2	27.0	66.0	17.4	16.6
Athen and a series of a series of						

urner answers include induction only, deduction only, not accertainable, neither induction nor deduction, and don't know.

anta	
letermi	•
1n d	tior
form	ganiza
Ginal.	TO BT
THAT	al c
늰	h to
data	prosol
T of	ap
quae 3	g and
ade	nin
the	T 08.80
of	30
ptions	type
000	to to
ö	Hor
Limers	product
4 4	30
10	1 1
elatic	evel o
PH -	-
13.	
able	

; :

				R	of farmers w	ho	
Type of reasoning and app	roach :	Rumber of farmers	Determined most profitable point	Gave : Acceptably: correct : answer :	Recognized marginal data as adequate	: Said : : marginel : : data were : : inadequates	Dådn' knew
Verification of:							
Both induction and ded	luction	9	16.7	55.5	50°0	53.5	16.7
Deduction only		4	25.0	25.0	75.0	25.0	0.0
Induction only		29	10.5	25.6	69.2	15.4	15.4
Meither induction nor deduction		121	11.5	26.0	66.4	18.5	15.3
Approach to farm organize	tion						
Land use		22	19.5	32.5	66.2	13.0	20.8
Livestook		19	15.8	21.1	52.6	26.5	21.1
Simultaneous		29	10.5	51.0	75.9	17.2	6.9
Price expectation		8	25.0	50°0	100.0	0.0	0.0
Other *		29	0.0	12.8	53.8	23.1	23.1
All farmers		356	15.2	27.0	66.0	17.4	16.6

* Other approaches include labor use, income or debt repayment, and special market.

entirely match the results discussed above, where relatively more farmers in the group using mainly deduction showed an understanding of marginal analysis. Both comparisons indicated that fewer (relatively) of those farmers using inductive reasoning understood marginal analysis.

The relation of understanding of marginal analysis to groupings of farmers based upon verified examples of various types of reasoning is less clear. This may be explained by the small number of farmers in some of the groups. Those with verified examples of deduction were able to determine the most profitable point and to recognize the adequacy of data in marginal form better than the other groups. One-third of those giving verified answers for both induction and deduction gave an acceptably correct answer, and this was a slightly higher percentage than for those with verification of only deduction or only induction. In any case, the numbers in the groups "both induction and deduction" and "deduction only" were so small that little could be learned. The outstanding relation in the table (and for this generalization numbers in the groups are more suitable) is that the understanding of those giving verified examples of only induction and of those farmers giving no verified examples was not at all unlike the understanding indicated by all 556 farmers.

Very few insights were gained by relating farmers' conceptions to approach to farm organisation. The eight farmers who based their planning on expected prices appeared to show a higher degree of understanding of marginal analysis. All of the eight said that the marginal data were adequate. Again, the number in the group is probably too small to make generalizations possible.

The analysis has progressed to the following state. Farmers' under-

standing of marginal analysis is related to the methods of figuring of costs and returns. Figuring of costs and returns, however, is on the one hand related to type of reasoning and on the other hand to understanding of marginal analysis. It was related to external conditioning factors, especially age and education. With the theoretical arguments and empirical relations established thus far, it appears logical to suppose that the external factors age and education might be related directly to the farmers' understanding of the data in marginal form. The empirical relations as shown in Table 14 bear out this reasoning.

1

External Conditioning Factors. Younger farmers show a higher degree of understanding than do older farmers. This relation holds, except for determining the most profitable point, between age group comparisons for education, grades 1-8, above 8 grades, or across both education levels. Comparisons for education levels, for respective age groups, show that marginal analysis is better understood by the more educated farmers. This relation holds very regularly and between education levels for all ages. Because of these relations, farmers with more than 8 grades of education ranked highest in understanding while farmers 55 years old and above with 8 grades or less of education ranked lowest among all the groups. The farmers with the highest degree of understanding are, for age groups, the younger, and for education groups. the more educated. Also, younger farmers are more educated. Therefore. when understanding is related to either age or education without the use of a multiple classification table, the relations are even more pronounced than when understanding is related to age or education with education or age. respectively, somewhat taken into account by the two-way grouping.

The effects of several external conditioning factors on percentages of

		-	20	of farmers 1	who	
Age and education	: Number of : farmers :	* Determined. * most : * profitable: * point :	Gave : acceptably: correct : answer :	Recognized marginal data as adequate	: Indicated : : marginal : : adata were not: : adequate :	Didn't know
Education						
Grades 1-8						
Age						
Under 40	37	08.1	21.6	75.0	10.8	16.2
40-54.9	56	12.1	24.1	62.1	15.5	22.4
55 and above	73	11.0	17.8	43.8	24.7	31.5
Above 8 grades						
Age						
Under 40	85	13.5	36.1	83.1	12.0	A.R
40-54.9	66	18.2	51.8	71.2	21.2	7.6
55 and above	54	17.6	26.5	64.7	14.7	20.6
All age groups Education						
Grades 1-8	168	10.7	20.8	56.5	18.5	25.0
Above 8 grades	183	15.8	32.8	75.4	15.8	8.7
All education levels						
Age						
Under 40	120	11.7	31.7	80.0	11.7	8.3
40-54.9	124	15.3	28.2	66.9	18.5	14.5
55 and above	101	13.1	20.6	50° 5	21.5	28.0
All farmers *	351	15.4	27.1	66.4	17-1	34.6

correct and incorrect answers given to the hog problem were considered in Table 15. The farmers surveyed were grouped by length of farming experience. Those who started farming before 1935 comprised one group, while those who started in 1933 or later were included in the second group. The results of this comparison were not entirely consistent with the results discussed above. A higher percentage (72.0) of these farmers with more experience recognized the marginal data as adequate for determining the number of litters of pigs to produce, and a slightly higher percentage (28.0) of them gave an acceptably correct answer regarding the number to produce than did those with less experience. However, 14.5 per cent of the farmers with less experience correctly determined the exact number of litters for greatest profit compared to 12.0 per cent of the more experienced who determined the most profitable number of litters. The farmers who started farming before 1953 were, of course, older farmers. They indicated a slight superiority in understanding of marginal analysis. To the extent that their understanding was superior. the results differ from those where age itself was related to understanding.

Very little additional information was obtained by relating understanding to equity ratios. A higher percentage of those farmers whose equity was more than 95 per cent of their total assets determined the exact number of litters to produce than did the low equity group. The low equity group, however, recognised the adequacy of the marginal data better than did the high equity group.

The not worth levels appeared to have some influence on the percentages of farmers who determined the exact number of litters for greatest profit. Percentages of correct answers were 8.8, 14.5 and 16.5 per cent for the low, medium, and high not worth levels respectively. Other criteria do not

		-	1 30 %	ermers who		
External variables	: Number of : farmers :	: Determineds : most : : profitable:	Gave : acceptably: correct :	Recognized marginal data as	: Indicated : : marginal : :data were not:	Didn't know
Experience Started farming Before 1955 In 1955 or later	200 2.00	12.0 12.0	28.0 25.7	RECORDER O	s adoquate s 16.5	11.5
Equity Greater than 95%	188	14.4	26.1	60°6	18.6	20.7
95% or less	154	08.7	28.4	75.4	14.2	10.4
Wet worth Under \$20,000 \$20,000-\$49,999	102 147	08.8 14.5	30.4 25.9	71.6	14.7 22.4	13.7
\$50,000 and ever	32	16.5	27.2	70.7	13.0	16.5
Main product Wheat	91 75	10.7	28.6 20.7	61.6 74.7	26.4 6.7	22.0
Corn and other feed	55 42	12.7	20•0 51•0	58.2 66.7	29.1	12.7
Beef and sheep Others*	45	12.0	30.2 20.0	79.1	9.5	11.6
tores managed Under 130 acres	109	15.6	23.9	57.8	26.7	16.5
130-270 aeres	126	10.5	25.4	65.9	15.9	18.5
Over 270 acres	121	14.0	51.4	73.6	11.6	14.9
111 farmers	356	13.2	27.0	66.0	17.4	16.6

fruit, and not ascertainable.

suggest the above or any other generalized relation between understanding and net worth.

The understanding was also related to the main product, Table 15. Results followed ne particular pattern. However, it was noted that a smaller percentage of the farmers who produced hogs as a main product correctly recognized marginal data as adequate when applied to a hypothetical hog problem than did those farmers who specialized in other products. Other criteria do not lend additional support to indicate that they understand marginal analysis less well than farmers producing other products.

A direct relationship existed between the percentages of farmers who recognized marginal data as adequate for determining the level of hog production and the number of acres managed. The percentages of those who recognized marginal data as adequate were 57.8, 65.9 and 75.6 for the small, medium, and large farmers respectively. An inverse relationship existed between the percentages of those who indicated that the marginal data were inadequate and the number of acres managed. Therefore, there is some evidence that the larger farmers have a higher degree of understanding of marginal analysis.

Real Response to Products and Inputs. Farmers' understanding of marginal analysis was related to real responses in quantities of products produced and inputs used in the same way that farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form were related. The logic for making the relation is the same, i.e., those farmers who respond to price might be expected to show more of an understanding of marginal analysis. The data in Table 16 lend some evidence in that direction, but the relations are not conclusive.

Those farmers who decide about quantity of product to produce show a

	bed
Su	npou
înîn	iq a
ter	net
1 de	pord
1 1	nd]
for	ed a
I.ad	1181
Irgi	puta
10 10	1
1 4	1 of
dat	tie
r of	unt1
Cown	sup
deg	at 1
he e	1981
f t	odae
ns c	1 1
tio	TOR
neet	\$
00	rion
ST0	duet
area a	pro
of 1	hog
uon	Jo
lati	Ter
Re	10
16.	
uble.	
100	

Adjustment	Number of farmers	Determineds most : profitables point :	Gave : acceptably: correct : answer :	Recognized marginal data as adequate	: Indicated : : marginal : :data were not: : adequate :	Didn't know
Desision about quantity of product to produce Adjusted to pride Adjusted to Pride Adjusted to Feed	38 88 88	16.4	34•6 29•6	73 .1 66.5	19.2 18.4	7.7 16.3
Decision about input quantity changes to input price changes lade o change Changed Natged Not ascertainable	76 89 84	09.2 16.7 10.4	21.1 25.0 37.5	63.2 63.5 77.1	21.1 21.7 8.5	15.8 15.0 14.6
All farmers	356	15.2	27.0	66.0	17.4	16.6

slight superiority in understanding. The relation was demonstrated by differences in percentages who gave an acceptably correct answer, recognized marginal data were adequate, and didn't know.

Those farmers who changed the quantity of some input in response to a change in its price showed a slight superiority in understanding over the group that made no change, as testified by the difference in percentage of farmers in the two groups that gave the exact answer and that gave an acceptably correct answer. The relations are clouded by the group of farmers whose responses to a change in quantity of an input was not ascertainable. This group, using all criteria except the percentage of farmers giving the most profitable point, demonstrated superior understanding to both of the other groups, namely those changing and those making no change in the quantity of an input used.

Although some relation was expected, as argued on theoretical grounds, wory little evidence was detected empirically.

The 356 farmers who were asked parts (a) and (b) of question 11 (appendix) regarding the adequacy of average and marginal data for determining the most profitable level of hog production for the hypothetical problem were then asked, "Which way do you figure costs and returns in similar situations?" (question 11c, appendix). The answers given by the farmers were coded into the following groups:

Method of figuring used	No. of farmers
Average analysis	46
Marginal analysis	62
Both average and marginal analysis	16
Another method indicating an understanding of marginal analysis	2

Another method not indicating an understanding of marginal analysis	181
Deesn't use any method	18
No answer given to this part	
Total	356

It was hoped that respondents would see the question as concerning general ways of figuring. Of the 320 farmers answering part (c), 151 understood the question as concerning general ways of figuring, 50 saw the question as only concerning hogs and the understanding of 119 farmers was not ascertainable.

Two of these groups were selected for analysis. One group consisted of the 62 farmers who indicated a use of marginal analysis to figure problems similar to the hog problem. The second group consisted of the 181 farmers who said that they used some other method of figuring costs and returns (a method not indicating an understanding of marginal analysis). Only 17.4 per cent of all the farmers indicated use of a method that could be called "marginal analysis", while slightly more than 1/2 of them reported use of a method that did not indicate understanding of marginal analysis. It was also true that the percentage of farmers that used a method not indicating an understanding of marginal analysis was greater than the percentage that used marginal analysis for all groups. However, the percentage of farmers using marginal analysis and the percentage using some other method varied widely among groups.

Some relationship existed between the method of figuring costs and returns used by farmers, question 10 (appendix), and their use of marginal analysis to figure problems similar to the hog problem, Table 17. Hone of the farmers who said that they did not figure costs and returns indicated a

41	
riven	
8	- the
enterpri se	nate and w
of	0.0
s120	fiom
and	to
eturns	ds used
P P	the
us a	Dill I
oosta	ame to
figure	proble
\$	hog
pes	44
methods u	questions
e.	\$
Relation	response
able 17.	

	1 1		% of farmer	s figuring	
Method of figuring	: farmers :	Costs and Re Similar Situ	sturns in ations by	size of by add	enterprise natine to
	1 s	se of marginals analysis :	Some other method	r Price	t Feed Supply
Does not figure	6	0.0	1.11	0.0	1.11
Verified	86	25.6	37.2	10 90	19.8
Unvertfied	17	5.9	58.8	6.9	47.1
All writing out	103	22.3	40.8	3.9	24.5
Figures in head					
Verified	158	23.9 .	48.6	5.6	29.0
Drver1fled	27	7.4	40.7	3.7	22.2
All figuring in head	165	21.2	47.5	3.6	27.9
Figures					
By writing only	4	14.3	42.9	14.5	28.6
In head only Both by writing and in head	69	17.4	59.4	4.5	34.8
both verified	62	30.6	37.1	3.2	19.4
All farmers	356	17.4	50.8	5.6	27.0

use of marginal analysis. The percentage of farmers using marginal analysis was only slightly higher for those who figure by writing compared to those who figure in the head. Those groups with method of figuring vorified indicated a much greater use of marginal analysis than did the unverified groups. A higher percentage of those farmers who gave verified examples of figuring by both writing and figuring in the head used marginal analysis and a smaller percentage used a method other than marginal analysis than did the other groups. Those giving verified examples differed especially from those that do not figure and those that figure only in the head. Of these farmers who figure only in the head, 17.4 per cent used marginal analysis while 59.4 per cent used another method not indicating an understanding of marginal analysis. For those who figure (and gave verified examples) both by writing and in the head, 50.6 per cent used marginal analysis, while 37.1 per cent used another method.

Farmers were asked to give other ways which they frequently used to adjust size of enterprise. The responses, as coded, with number of farmers, were as follows:

Adjustment	Nos	of respon	ses
To price, price changes, and price expectations		20	
To income and/or debt repayment needs		4	
To any one of the following limitations:			
Land and cropping pattern		10	
Feed supply		96	
Labor		35	
Equipment and operating capital		12	
Buildings, fences, tiling and other real estate improvements		37	
Livestock		2	
Experience, knowledge and management		14	

The 20 farmers who said that they adjusted to price, price changes, and price expectations and the 96 farmers who adjusted to feed supply were selected for further analysis. Table 17 shows the relation between these two ways of determining size of enterprise and methods used to figure costs and returns, question 10 (appendix).

The percentage of the farmers who indicated that enterprise size adjustments were made according to price, price changes, and price expectations, were small for all groups. The method of figuring costs and returns had only a slight influence on these percentages. A much larger percentage of the farmers adjusted size of enterprise in response to limitations placed by available feed supply, and this was true for all groups. Little was learned from this comparison. For those farmers who do not figure, for those giving verified answers to writing out, and for those giving verified answers for both types of figuring, the percentages of farmers adjusting to either price or feed supply were below average. In general, the percentages of farmers adjusting to price or feed supply varied but little from group to group or from the average.

Table 18 shows the relation of the same methods used to figure costs and returns and size of enterprise (defined and explained in the discussion of Table 17) to other responses made by the same farmers regarding decisions made on their own farms. Two categories of answers given by farmers in response to question 17, (appendix), are related to responses to similar questions on the hog problem. A higher percentage of farmers who said that they made production adjustments according to price in question 17 indicated a use of marginal analysis to figure problems similar to the hog problem than did those who adjusted to feed supply and/or livestock. A slightly smaller percentage of those who adjusted to price used some other method of figuring

			% of farmer	rs figuring	-	4 H H H
s Answer s	Number of: farmers	Costs and re similar situ	turns in ations by	s Size of by adju	enterprise usting to	
		Use of marginal: analysis :	Some other method	: Price	s Feed Supply	
Decision about quantity of produce					• :	
Adjusted to price	26	19.2	61.5	15.4	23.1	
Adjusted to feed supply and/or livestock	98	14.5	70.4	5e1	37.8	
Decision about input quantity changes to input price changes						
Made no change	76	14.5	56.6	2.6	54.2	
Changed	60	31.7	35.3	6.7	20.0	
Not ascertainable	48	12.5	45.8	2.1	25•0	
Approach to farm organization						
Land use	77	13.0	62.3	10.4	29.9	
L1 vestoek	19	5.3	78.9	5.3	56.8	
Simultaneous	29	10.3	51.7	13.8	54.5	
Price expectation	8	26.0	37.5	0.0	12.5	
Other *	23	25.6	41.0	0.0	12.8	
All farmers	556	17.4	50.8	5.6	27-0	

* Other approaches include labor use, income or debt repayment, and special market.

not indicating an understanding of marginal analysis than did those who adjusted to feed supply and/or livestock. These empirical relations were expected on a priori grounds.

Price and feed supply responses given to question 11, (appendix) were compared to price and feed supply and/or livestock responses for question 17, (appendix). Question 11 was basically a hypothetical question, and the responses "price" and "feed supply" were coded from responses farmers gave to a sub question on how they figure size of materprise in a similar situation. Question 17 was more concerned with real responses. Some consistency of responses was shown by the two groups.

For the hog problem, where farmers were asked to indicate how they would determine the size of enterprise in a similar situation, considerably more indicated that they would respond to feed supply than to price. However, in figuring size of enterprise in a similar situation to the hog problem, for those farmers who adjusted production to price in a real problem, relatively more farmers would have adjusted to price and relatively fewer would have adjusted to feed supply than was indicated by those farmers who adjusted to feed supply and/or livestock in the real problem.

A second relation shown in Table 18 was the effect of the degree of the farmer's flexibility in use of inputs when input prices changed to figuring of costs and returns and of size of enterprise. A higher percentage of the farmers who changed input quantities as input prices changed said they used marginal analysis to figure problems similar to the hog problem than did the other groups. On the other hand, a higher percentage of those farmers who made no change as input prices changed and of those who gave answers that were not ascertainable indicated the use of some non-marginal method of figuring costs and returns.

Six and seven-tenths per cent of the farmers making changes determined size of enterprise by adjusting to price or price expectations. This compares with only 2.6 per cent for those who made no change and 2.1 per cent for those who gave answers that were not ascertainable. A lower percentage of those farmers who changed the quantity of an input would have adjusted size of enterprise on the basis of feed supply. A higher percentage of those farmers who adjusted the use of an input to a price change indicated they would figure, in similar situations, costs and returns by marginal analysis and size of enterprise by adjusting to price than was true for the other groups. These findings are consistent with the relationships expected from the use of theoretical arguments.

Percentages of answers given in Table 18 by farmers approaching farm organisation in different ways vary greatly and few elear-out implications emerge. The eight farmers who based their farm organization on expected prices tended to use marginal analysis to a greater extent than the other farmers, while depending to a less extent on other methods not involving an understanding of marginal analysis.

Summary. A superior understanding of marginal analysis was demonstrated by farmers in the following groups:

- Farmers who figure costs and returns, especially those giving verified answers for both types of figuring and those who write out.
- Farmers who use deductive reasoning alone or in combination with inductive reasoning.
- 3. Farmers who were younger.
- 4. Farmers with more than 8 grades of education.
- 5. Farmers with larger farms.

 Farmers who adjust quantities of produced and inputs used to price.

Summary, Average and Marginal Analysis, Hog Problem. The original responses to the adequacy of the data in average form and in marginal form were generally as expected. For the data in average form, more of the farmers

		Percents	age of farmers respondi	ing
		Data adequate	Data not adequate	Don't know
Data	in average form	28.7	51.7	19.7
Data	in marginal form	66.0	17.4	16.6

indicated that it was not adequate, and for the data in marginal form, considerably more of the farmers indicated that it was adequate. This means that, for the definitions of "correct" and "incorrect" answers specified, considerably more farmers answered correctly than incorrectly for each type of data. As was expected, farmers were more accurate in answering as to the adequacy of data in marginal form than in average form. It seemed that it would be easier for farmers to recognize the presence of adequate information when presented than to recognize its absence when not presented.

The hypotheses as set forth were in general substantiated when responses to the data in the two forms were studied. However, it is apparent that the results were considerably more clear cut and conclusive for the study of the responses to the data in marginal form. This too was expected.

Machinery Investment Problem: Average and Marginal Data

A second problem, similar to the hypothetical hog problem, was formulated to consider further abilities of farmers to recornise and tudze data in

average and marginal form, question 12, (appendix). This problem dealt with the most profitable level of machinery investment, and was presented to 354 ° farmers, none of which were asked the hypothetical hog problem. Each farmer was shown data arranged first in average form and then in marginal form. The question then asked the farmers (for each type of data) was: Is this enough information to decide whether or not a farmer should invest another 250 dollars in machinery? If so, for what reasons? If not, why not? If don't know, what difficulties are you having figuring this out?

Avorage Data. The superiority of data in marginal form over data in average form has been discussed. The latter lacks the exactness required for determining the most profitable levels of production and investment. Farmers' understanding of this imadequacy of average data is studied as related to: (a) methods used to figure costs and returns, (b) type of reasoning, (c) certain external conditioning factors, and (d) real analysis used by farmers when buying machinery. In part (a), data in average form, average costs and average returns are assumed. It was assumed, perhape implicitly, that all costs were included and that returns were accurately measured, and reflected such relations as whether the farmer needed the machinery.

The responses given by the farmers to the question (12a, appendix) regarding the adequacy of average data were as follows:

Group	Response	No. of farmers
1	Yes, with no reason given.	1
2	Yes, indicating that example contained enough information and nothing additional was requested.	82
2	Yes, wanted more information that won't convert example to marginal type.	23
4	No, wanted more information that won't convert example to marginal type.	137
5	Yes, wanted more information that would convert example to marginal type.	15
6	No, wanted more information that would convert example to marginal type.	39
7	Yes, wanted additional average and marginal information.	6
8	No, wanted additional average and marginal information.	22
9	No, with no reason classifiable.	3
10	Don't know.	21
11	Question not answered.	5

Total 354

The answers given were re-grouped for analysis. All farmers who indicated that the average computations were adequate for determining additional machinery investment were placed in one group. Their answers to the question were judged inaccurate. The second group consisted of those who indicated that average data were inadequate. Their answers were considered as correct. Those 26 farmers who said that they didn't know or left the question unanswered were combined. Two other groups were set up based on the type of additional information requested. All farmers who asked for additional information of a marginal nature were included in one group, and those who asked for additional information of other than a marginal nature in another group. Of the 354 farmers interviewed 56.8 per cent correctly judged the average data as inadequate, while 35.9 per cent thought the data were adequate. Seven and threetenths per cent didn't know. Twenty three and two-tenths per cent of the farmers wanted more data of a marginal nature, compared to 45.2 per cent who requested data of other than a marginal nature.

ā

All of these groupings provide oriteria helpful in understanding the farmers' conception of economic analysis. Those farmers who understand marginal analysis would be expected to indicate average data were not adequate (and not to say that average data were adequate), to indicate more data meeded of a marginal nature, and no more than a minimum number should indicate that they didn't know as to the adequacy of the data.

Methods of Figuring Costs and Returns. It was believed that those farmers who figure costs and returns would more likely appraise the average data as inadequate and ask for data in marginal form, Table 10. The percentage of farmers who judged the data as not adequate varied but little among groups (based on method of figuring costs and meturns). The percentage of correct answers for all farmers was 56.8, and, with the exception of the five farmers who figure by writing only, there was little deviation from this average. Farmers who do not figure, with 50 per cent correct answers, ranked somewhat below the other groups. Only ten per cent of those farmers who do not figure requested more information of a marginal nature compared with 27.9 per cent for those who figure by writing and 28.4 per cent for those who figure in the head. A high percentage of those farmers who figured costs and returns indicated that more data in marginal form were meeded, but the relations were not sharp.

			% of	farmers who	indicated	
Method of Figuring	a Number of a A a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	verage dat were adequate	asAverage dat s were not s adequate	a: More sof margin : nature	data needed al:of other than :marginal nature	: They ididn't know
Does not figure	28	36.7	50.0	10.7	50.0	14.5
Writes out						
Verified	61	36.7	59.5	26.6	48.1	5.8
Unverified	4	14.5	57.1	42.9	14.5	28.6
All writing out -	86	54.9	59.3	27.9	45°3	5.8
figures in head						
Verified	125	40.8	56.2	27.2	40.8	4.0
Unverified	16	18.8	62.5	37.5	57.5	18.3
All figuring in head	141	38.5	56.0	28.4	40.4	5.7
figures						
By writing only	10	80.0	20.0	0.0	40.0	0.0
In head only	61	44.5	50.8	27.9	37.7	4.9
both by writing and in head, both verified	64	87.5	54.9	26.6	46.9	5.1
dl farmers	354	35.9	56.8	23.2	45.e2	7.3

Type of Reasoning. Because of arguments presented above, type of reasoning and understanding of the data, were related directly. The relation of farmers' judgments of the adequacy of data in average form in determining the profitability of additional machinery investment to type of reasoning was shown in Table 20. This was used to further test the hypothesis that some direct relationship exists in use of deductive reasoning and grasp of marginal analysis by farmers. It was reasoned that recognition of the inadequacy of data in average form was related to a grasp of marginal analysis. Therefore, some relation was expected between use of deduction by farmers and a grasp of the inadequacy of reasoning from averages.

-

Although mixed tendencies predominated in Table 20, two consistencies were observed. First, a higher percentage of farmers who indicated a use of both induction and deduction when reasoning, as well as those who gave verified examples of both induction and deduction, judged the average data as inadequate for determining the profitability of additional machinery investment. Also, a direct relationship existed between the proportion of thinking which farmers said was deductive and the per cent of correct answers given by them to this problem. The relations between type of reasoning and additional data needed were not as expected. In general, a higher percentage of those farmers whose reasoning was inductive indicated a meed for data of a marginal nature. For almost every group, however, more farmers wanted data of a non-marginal nature than of a marginal nature.

External Conditioning Factors. The relation of judgments of farmers regarding the adequacy of average data as applied to the machinery invostment problem to certain external conditioning factors was considered, Table 21. Again, arguments outlined above explain why this was done.

	1 1		% of	farmers who	indicated	
Type of reasoning	: Munber of: A	verage dati were adequate	asAverage da s were not s adequate	tas More sof margli s mature	data needed al sof other ti	: They hen: didn't know
combinations of induction and deduction used Both induction and		-				
deduction	107	29.0	AS.F	9.01		
Mainly deduction	21	47.6	47.6	34.5	0.00	01.0
Mainly induction	43	57.2	55 B	30.2	20.5	2.400
Other answers *	ŝ	20.0	60.09	20.0	60.09	20.0
reportion of thinking aductive						
Less than 1/2	68	44.1	47.1	22.1	20-02	0 00
About 1/2	41	34.1	63.4	10.5	49.6	
More than 1/2	36	19.4	66.7	5.5	0 ES	
Didn't know	31	22.6	71.0	38.7	45.2	106.5 06.5
rification of Both induction and						
deduction	50	0.0	100.0	33. 9	4 4	
Deduction only	9	66.7	35.5	50.03	1000	0.0
Induction only	27	26.9	70.4	40.7	57.0	03.7
Neither induction nor						
deduction	140	33.6	57.01	16.4	50.7	8*60
l farmers	354	35.9	56.8	23.2	45.2	07.5

ŝ

			205	farmers who in	dicated	
External variables	: Number of:	Average dat	asAverage dat	as More dat	a needed	s They
	: farmers :	adequate	s were not	sof marginals	of other than marginal natur	sdidn't kno
Education						
Grades 1-8	150	35.3	53.4	22.0	40.7	11.8
Above 8 grades	202	36.1	59.9	23.8	49.0	04.0
Age						
Under 40	107	42.J	56.1	23.4	42.1	1.0
40-54.9	139	53.1	60.4	26.6	46.8	6.5
55 and above	102	51.4	55.9	18.6	48.0	14.7
Experience Started farming						
Before 1933	206	37.9	58.3	20.9	48.5	0.5.9
In 1935 or later	145	53.6	54.5	25.9	41.5	11.9
Squity						
UTERTOT TORN 20%	175	54.5	58.3	24.0	49.1	07.4
35% or 1ess	137	58°7	54.7	21.9	40.9	06.6
fain product						
Hogs	35	25.8	66.7	22.6	54.8	07.5
Wheat	79	59•2	54.4	54.2	39°2	06.5
Dairy	55	34.5	60.0	25.5	41.8	05.5
Corn and other feed	48	47.9	45.8	16.7	47.9	06.5
Beef and sheep	27	14.8	70.4	18.5	51.9	14.8
Others *	52	50.0	42°5	15.5	34.6	07.7
11 farmers	354	35.9	56.8	23.2	46.9	07.4

Table 21. Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form in determining

î

:

ruck crops, poultry and eggs, "Uthers" includes tobacco, scybeans and flar, fruit, and not accertainable.

The more educated farmers demonstrated superior understanding for most of the oritoria of comparison. A direct relationship existed between level of education and the percentage of farmers who judged the average data as inadequate. A slightly higher percentage of the better educated farmers recognized a need for more data of a marginal nature than did the less educated group. Also, relatively fower of the more educated group replied that they didn't know. All of the differences were slight, but the numbers in each group (education) were large.

Little was learned by relating understanding to age. No group deviated far from the average for any response. A slightly higher percentage of the farmers in the age group 40-54.9 years appraised the data as not adequate and indicated a need for more data of a marginal nature.

The influence of experience on ability to handle this problem was not entirely consistent. A higher percentage of both correct and incorrect answers in judging the adequacy of the average data were given by farmers with more experience in farming. It was noted that for the farmers with less experience, a greater percentage mentioned the need for more data of a marginal nature and a lesser percentage requested additional data of a non-marginal mature.

A slightly higher percentage of farmers in the high equity group indicated a grasp of the principles involved in judging the adequacy of data in average form for this particular problem than did the low equity farmers.

When farmers were grouped according to main producets produced, the livestock farmers all gave higher percentages of correct answers than did the farmers whose main products were wheat, and corn and other feeds. A similar relationship existed for the hog problem where these groupings were

related to the understanding of data in average form.

Analysis and Type of Reasoning for Real Problem. Farmers comprehension of the hypothetical machinery investment problem is related to analysis and reasoning used by these farmers when handling actual machinery investment problems on their farms. The groupings used in Table 22--use of analysis and type of reasoning, were coded from responses given by farmers to an openended question (question 20, appendix) regarding how they made up their minds to purchase the last major piece of machinery on their farm. Answers given by the farmers were first coded into two categories depending upon whether or not analysis was used. Answers given by 160 of the farmers indicated analysis was used, while 16 responses indicated no use of analysis.

A higher percentage of the farmers using analysis for machinery decisions on their own farms indicated that the average data given were not adequate for determining the profitability of additional machinery investment than did those who didn't use analysis. Relatively fewer of those who used analysis indicated that average data were adequate than did those who didn't use analysis. Also, a slightly higher percentage of them requested additional data of a marginal nature.

The farmers who used analysis in making a machinery investment decision on their own farms were regrouped according to the type of reasoning indicated by their responses. Three of these groups selected for study consisted of farmers who reasoned inductively, deductively, or by use of an integrated inductive-deductive process.

Because of the small number of farmers using inductive reasoning, little can be inferred from a comparison of reasoning with deduction and reasoning without deduction. We appreciable difference existed between the proportion
Relation of farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in average form in determining profitebuilty of additional mediinery investment to use of analysis by farmers when buying mediates. Table 22.

% of farmers who indicated

ż

÷

Analveis and wasaning	sHumber ofs	Average data	sAverage datas	More o	inte needed :	They	
Sweetland a new seaferment	: farmers :	were	s were not ;	of marginal nature	and the then a smarginal natures	didn't k	8
Use of analysis							1
Was used	160	37.5	55.6	26.0	43.1	6.9	
Has not used	18	50°0	44.4	22.2	88.9	5.6	
Type of reasoning							
Inductive	20	0.0	100.0	40.0	60.0	0*0	
Deductive	47	36.2	53.2	27.7	58°3	10.6	
Integrated inductive -							7
deductive process	74	40.5	54.1	23.0	45.9 -	5.4	
All farmers	354	55.9	56.8	23.2	45.2	7.3	*

of correct answers given by farmers using deduction only and those using an integrated inductive-deductive reasoning process. A slightly higher percentage of the farmers using deductive reasoning requested additional data of a marginal nature.

In general, farmers who used some type of analysis in a real problem better understood this part of the machinery investment problem then did those who used no analysis. Less was loarned from a regrouping of the farmers using analysis on the basis of type of reasoning used.

Summary. Farmers with the following characteristics more adequately judged average data as applied to the machinery investment problem: figured out costs and returns, used analysis to decide on machinery investment on own farm, were better educated, and produced livestock.

Marginal Data. To complete the study of farmer understanding of economic analysis in connection with the hypothetical machinery investment problem, data in marginal form (question 12b, appendix) were shown each farmer after he had studied the data in average form. The data in marginal form contained the necessary information for determining the profitability of additional machinery investment. These data included marginal return and marginal cost values. These were assumed to be correct and to cover all returns and all costs. It was also implicitly assumed that the \$250 was available for the purchase.

The farmer was asked to judge the adequacy of the marginal data in the same manner as for the average data. He was asked not only to appraise the adequacy of the data but to give reasons. The reasons given were then studied in the coding process to determine the farmer's understanding of the problem.

The responses given by the farmers were originally coded as follows:

	Indicated by response	No. of farmers
Yes	- with understanding verified	
	Does not request any additional information	154
	Requested specific information that did not expand the problem	25
	Requested information that expanded the problem	27
	Requested both types of information	6
Yes	- with understanding not verified	
	Dees not request any additional information	8
	Requests additional information	31
No		
	Requests information that expanded the problem	48
	Requests specific information that does not expand the problem	26
	Requests both types of information	15
	Says nothing that fits in the above three categories of "No" answers	4
Don	't know, not ascertainable, no answer	
	Total	854

For verification of "yes" answers the farmer must have indicated that: (1) the model showed marginal profit precisely, (2) information was complete or more complete than average data, or (3) profit (e.g. returns amough to buy). "Yes" answers which didn't fit into one of these categories were considered unverified. The number of farmers eiting reasons that could be considered as the same as the above were 8, 29 and 162 for each of the definitions, respectively.

The answers given were re-grouped for this study. Farmers who indicated

that the marginal data were adequate (with understanding verified) were placed in one group. These answers were considered "correct" in this study. A second group consisted of those who said that marginal data were adequate (but with understanding unverified). These first two groups were then totaled to form a group which included all farmers (regardless of verification of understanding) who indicated that the marginal data were adequate for deciding on additional machinery investment. A fourth group consisted of those farmers who answered, "No", indicating that they thought the marginal data were not adequate. These answers were considered "incorrect" in this study. A final group studied consisted of those farmers who replied that they didn't know, gave no answer, or gave an answer that was not ascertainable.

.

Of the 554 farmers who were asked this question 54.2 per cent indicated that the marginal data were adequate with understanding verified, while 11.0 per cent of them indicated the marginal data were adequate but gave reasons which failed to verify their understanding of the problem. Sixty five and two-tenths per cent of all farmers then indicated that the marginal data were adequate. This compares with 25.3 per cent who said the data were not adequate. Eight and five-tenths per cent gave answers classified as don't know. All of these groups of responses were useful in appraising farmers' knowledge of understanding should show a high percentage of farmers who indicated the marginal data were adequate. Of these responses, the understanding should be verified from a large number of farmers. These groups demonstrating a higher degree of knowledge should not indicate that marginal data were not adequate and, of course, should give a minimum of don't know answers.

Farmers response to data in marginal form for the machinery problem was studied with respect to the same four other types of factors.

Figuring Costs and Returns. The hypothesis that figuring costs and returns is a link in the chain leading to marginal analysis was substantiated by the relations shown in Table 23. Only 35.7 per cent of the farmers who said that they do not figure costs and returns recognized the marginal data as adequate for determining the profitability of additional machinery investment (with verified understanding). This compares with 57.0 per cent for these who write out, verified, and with 61.6 per cent for those who figure in the head, verified. Relatively fewer of those farmers who figured costs and returns indicated that marginal data were not adequate, and relatively fewer of them answered that they didn't know.

:

Considering all oriteria, these farmers who write out, these who figure in the head, and these who gave verified answers for either method of figuring or both methods indicated an understanding of marginal analysis that was somewhat superior to the percentages for all farmers and markedly superior to those for farmers who do not figure.

<u>Type of Reasoning</u>. As was done above, and with the same arguments, farmers' conceptions of the adequacy of data in marginal form was related directly to the type of reasoning, Table 24. A higher percentage of the farmers who said they used mainly deduction when reasoning judged the data in marginal form were adequate than did the other groups. Hone of the farmers who used mainly deduction replied that they didn't know as to the adequacy. This compares with about 10 per cent for those farmers who used mainly induction or for those who used a combination of induction and deductions.

The study of knowledge of marginal analysis against both the proportion of thinking deductive and verified examples of types of reasoning did not reveal any precisely defined relations. Those farmers who gave no verified

Relation of farmers' conception of adequacy of data in marginel form in determining profitability of additional machinery investment to methods used to figure seets and returns. Table 23.

:

		1	20 g	farmers wh	0	
Mathad of Planadus	: Number of	f'Indicated mar	ginal data were	adequatesI	ndicated marginal	
Guringer to normal	: farmers	: Understanding : verified	: Understending:	Total :	data were not adequate	: Didn't
Dees not figure	28	35.7	14.3	60°0	52.1	17.9
Writes out						
Verified	64	57.eO	12.7	69.7	24.1	6.3
Unverified	2	724	0.0	72.4	0.0	28.6
All writing out	86	58 °1	11.6	69°7	22.1	8.1
Figures in head						
Verified	125	61.6	12.0	73.6	21.6	4.8
Unverified	16	37.5	12.5	50.0	31.2	18.8
All figuring in head	141	58.9	12.1	71.0	22.7	6.4
Figures						
By writing only	LO LO	100.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
In head only	61	62.9	11.5	75.4	21.3	5° 0
Both by writing and in head, both verified	64	59.4	12.2	71.6	21.9	6.2
All farmers	354	54.2	11.0	65.2	26.3	8.6

Didn't **know** 0.0 04.9 08.5 0.0 0.0 8.5 10.5 0.0 11.8 03.7 10.7 #Number of.Indioated marginal data were adonuatesIndioated marginal; farmers (Understanding:Understanding;) data were not ; adequate 53.5 2.25 29.3 26.3 30.8 23.8 20.9 0.05 22.5 36.6 27.8 0.63 \$3°•3 % of farmers who 58.9 76.2 67.4 10.0 54.8 68.5 63.9 61.5 56.7 66.7 0.09 66.2 unverified . Total 74.1 0.0 15.1 04.8 02.3 20.0 07.5 1.11 16.1 0.0 22.2 07.9 11.0 verified : 15.8 71.4 55.1 0.05 57.4 51.2 52.8 45.2 66.7 6.10 54.2 52.1 38 12 140 107 21 -10 88 19 53 364 deduction deduction Combinations of induction Neither induction nor Type of reasoning Propertion of thinking Both induction & Both induction & Mainly deduction Wainly induction and deduction used Other answers * Deduction only Induction only Less than 1/2 fore than 1/2 Verification of deduction Don't know About 1/2 All farmers deductive

Relation of farmers' conceptions of adequacy of data in marginal form in determining profitubility of additional machinery investment to type of reasoning. Table 24.

:

Other answers include induction only, deduction only, not ascertainable, neither induction nor deduction, and don't know.

examples of reasoning showed slightly less understanding than did all farmers. Those farmers giving verified examples of induction showed a slight superiority in understanding when all criteria were examined. The numbers of farmers in the other two groups were too small to permit inferences.

External Conditioning Factors. Table 25 is a two-way table showing the influence of different levels of both age and education. The results are very similar to those elsewhere in the analysis where age and education influences were studied.

Younger farmers showed more understanding than older farmers. This was especially true for the less educated farmers and the age comparison where education categories were dissolved. A parallel situation held for the more educated farmers but the pattern was not as regular.

Understanding was also related to education. This pattern held for farmers in the 40-54.9 and 55 and above age groups, and for the study of education across all age groups. The less educated demonstrated superior understanding only for the age group "under 40". Although the understanding of the sub group above 8 grades and under 40 years of age was superior to all farmers, the understanding of those in the sub group grades 1-8 and under 40 years of age was very high. That explains the one irregularity in the study of understanding against education level.

With the irregularities specified, the younger farmers and the more educated farmers showed a higher percentage of "adequate" answers, both verified and total, and smaller percentages of "not adequate" and "didn't know" answers than the other groups. As these were the criteria used to measure knowledge of marginal analysis, it may be concluded that these groups demonstrated a superior degree of knowledge compared to that for the other

	1
	D1du kno
aing	
adequaty of data in marginal forms in determin ry investment to different levels of both age a	% of farmers who imarginal data were adoquate; indicated margina moding Understanding; i data were not ied i unverfied i Total i adoquate
ons of achine	di oate dersta veri f
ption in the state	all a
aers' conce additiona	: sNumber of : farmers
Relation of farm profitability of education for fa	education
26.	and
Table	Age

Bit and the set of t							
More balar More balar More balar 21 66.7 14.5 61.0 14.5 60-16.40 60 20 52.6 13.6 60.1 50.3 60-16.40 60 52.6 13.6 60.1 50.3 50.3 Above for at above balar 67 14.6 52.6 10.4 52.2 50.3 Above balar 67 36 62.8 07.0 69.8 50.7 More 40 96 58.2 00.9 60.9 50.4 50.1 More 40 147 49.7 12.2 61.9 54.6 Above 8 grades 147 49.7 12.2 61.9 54.6 Above 8 grades 100 65.9 00.4 72.0 54.6 Above 8 grades 100 65.8 10.0.1 65.9 54.6 Above 8 grades 101 65.9 05.4 54.6 54.6 Above 8 grades 101 65.9 10.0.9 65.7 54.6 <td>Education Grade 1-8</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Education Grade 1-8						
Muder 40 21 65.7 14.55 61.0 14.55 Wuder 40 67 41.65 13.45 61.0 24.55 S6 and above 67 41.65 13.45 65.1 23.5 Move 8 grades 67 41.65 13.45 65.1 23.5 Move 8 grades 67 96 65.2 33.5 33.5 Move 8 grades 96 67.1 52.2 33.5 Move 9 70.6 66.3 70.6 67.1 23.6 Move 16 147 49.7 12.2 61.9 24.6 Move 8 grades 199 59.8 10.1 66.9 27.1 Afs 10.1 66.4 12.2 61.9 27.1 27.1 Move 8 grades 10.1 65.8 10.1 66.9 27.1 Afs 10.1 64.6 10.1 66.4 72.0 27.1 Move 16 grades <t< td=""><td>Age</td><td>•</td><td></td><td>1</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td></td></t<>	Age	•		1	-	-	
40-64.9 50 52.6 13.6 66.1 20.3 56 and above 67 41.6 10.4 52.2 31.3 Move 6 7 41.6 10.4 52.2 31.3 Move 6 7 41.6 10.4 52.2 31.3 Move 6 7 41.6 10.4 52.2 31.3 Move 6 86 63.8 07.0 69.8 20.7 Move 8 79 86.2 00.0 66.1 20.5 Move 9 79 86.2 00.0 66.1 20.5 Move 9 79 86.2 00.0 66.1 20.5 Move 9 147 49.7 12.2 61.9 24.6 Acros 8 graduetion 149.7 12.2 61.9 24.5 Acros 8 graduetion 137 49.4 10.1 69.9 24.5 Acros 8 graduetion 136.7 65.9 10.0 69.9 27.1	Under 40	21	66.7	14.5	81.0	14.5	4.8
S6 and above 07 41.6 10.4 52.2 31.3 Above 8 grades 0 9 9.2 9	40-54.9	69	52.5	15.6	66.1	20.3	13.6
Above 6 grudes Structure Structure State	55 and above	67	41.8	10.4	52.2	31.3	16.4
More balar More ba	Above 8 grades						
Under 40 86 62.6 07.0 60.8 25.7 50-64.9 74 80.2 07.0 60.8 25.5 50-64.9 74 80.2 20.6 70.1 23.5 50-64.9 7 80.2 20.6 70.1 23.5 50-64.9 147 12.2 91.9 24.6 Sduekton 137 48.7 12.2 91.9 Adae 199 58.8 10.1 68.9 27.1 Age 10.1 64.9 10.1 68.9 27.1 Age 10.1 65.8 10.2 24.5 Brader 40 136 55.6 26.7 26.4 Age 10.0 65.8 10.2 24.5 Brader 40 136 55.6 66.7 26.7 Brader 40 136 55.6 26.7 26.7 Brader 40 136 55.6 26.7 26.4 Brader 40 136 55.6	Age .				ł		
40-64-9 79 58.2 00.0 67.1 23.1 55 and above 34 50.0 20.6 70.6 23.5 All ace groups 34 50.0 20.6 70.6 23.5 All ace groups 147 49.7 12.2 01.9 23.5 Above 8 grades 139 58.8 10.1 69.9 27.1 Above 8 grades 139 58.8 10.1 69.9 27.1 Above 8 grades 139 58.6 10.1 69.9 27.1 Above 8 grades 139 58.6 08.4 72.0 24.5 Ac 0.65.8 10.0 65.7 26.4 26.7 Ac 0.65.8 10.0 65.7 26.4 26.7 Ac 0.65.8 10.0 65.9 26.4 26.7 Ac 13.0 65.4 13.0 65.4 26.7	Under 40	86	62.8	04.0	69.8	26.7	5.5
S5 and above 34 50.0 20.6 70.6 23.5 Mill age groups Renovation 147 49.7 12.2 61.9 24.5 Gravestion 199 59.8 10.1 68.9 24.5 Above 8 grades 199 58.8 10.1 68.9 24.5 Above 8 grades 199 58.6 10.1 68.9 24.5 Age 10.1 65.6 08.4 72.0 24.5 Age 10.3 65.6 10.9 56.6 26.7 Ga and above 101 65.6 10.9 56.7 26.4 Mater * 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.7 26.4	40-54.9	64	56.2	08.9	67.1	29.1	5.8
All age groups Balaowican Bal	55 and above	34	50.0	20.6	70.6	23.5	5.9
Above 8 grades 1-6 147 48.7 12.2 61.9 24.6 Above 8 grades 139 88.6 10.1 68.9 27.1 Above 8 grades 139 88.6 10.1 68.9 27.1 Above 8 grades 139 68.6 10.1 68.9 27.1 Ac bdar 40 107 65.6 08.4 72.0 24.5 Ac 138 65.6 10.0 66.7 26.4 Go and above 101 44.6 13.9 56.5 28.7 All farmere * 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	All age groups						
Abore 8 grades 199 58.8 10.1 68.9 27.1 All education lovels 11 education lovels 24.5 24.5 Abore 107 65.6 08.4 72.0 24.5 Abore 107 65.6 10.9 66.7 25.4 65 and abore 101 44.6 13.9 56.5 20.7 11 farmere 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	Grades 1-8	247	49.7	12.2	61.9	24.5	15.6
Age Delay 1 State <th< td=""><td>Above 8 grades</td><td>199</td><td>58.8</td><td>10.1</td><td>68.9</td><td>27.1</td><td>4.0</td></th<>	Above 8 grades	199	58.8	10.1	68.9	27.1	4.0
Age budger 40 107 63.6 08.4 72.0 24.5 40-54.9 138 55.8 10.9 65.7 25.4 55 and above 101 44.6 13.9 59.5 28.7 411 farmere* 346 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	All education levels						
Under 40 107 63.6 08.4 72.0 24.5 40-54.9 138 55.8 10.0 66.7 25.4 65 and above 101 44.6 13.9 59.5 25.4 11 farmere 346 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	Age		1				
40-54.9 138 55.8 10.9 6.7 25.4 55 and above 101 44.6 13.9 59.5 28.7 11 farmere * 346 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	Under 40	101	63.6	08.4	72.0	24.3	5.7
55 and above 101 44.6 13.9 59.5 28.7 111 farmers • 546 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	40-54.9	138	55.8	10.9	66.7	25.4	8.0
All farmers * 546 54.9 11.0 65.9 26.0	55 and above	101	44.6	15.9	58.5	28.7	12.9
	All farmers +	346	54.9	11.0	65.9	26.0	8.1

* Age and education ascertained.

groups.

The relation of answers given for the hypothetical machinery problem to other external conditioning factors was shown in Table 26. Relatively more of the farmers with more experience indicated that the marginal data were adsquate than did the less experienced group. Likewise, relatively fewer of the more experienced farmers indicated that the marginal data were not adequate, or indicated "don't know" as to the adequasy of the data. Thus, for these farmers, there was a direct relationship between experience and grasp of marginal analysis.

Answers given by farmers with high and low average gross incomes (based on the past three-year period) were not entirely consistent. That is, high income farmers had a greater percentage of both correct and incorrect answers, but the difference in percentage of incorrect answers between the two income groups was not large. Relatively fower of the high income group replied that they didn't know. It may possibly be implied then that, right or wrong, high income farmers tend to have greater confidence in their own judgment. Thus they may be more willing to attempt to answer problems even though they might be wrong.

Grouping the farmers on the basis of equity level failed to reveal any consistent relations. High equity farmers showed a slight tendency to be more conservative in their answers, giving a higher percentage of don't know answers but relatively fewer incorrect answers than did the low equity group.

The percentages of correct answers given by farmers producing different products were relatively stable. The type of product grouping inplied very little as related to understanding of marginal analysis in the machinery investment problem. The homogeneity of understanding among these groups is not

Relation of farmers' conceptions of adequacy of data in marginal form in determining profitability of additional machinery investment to certain external conditioning factors for farmers sampled. Table 26.

-

:

			IOR	I STOUTSI	Do	
External variables	: farmers	. Understanding	ginal data were Understanding:	Total .	ndicated marginal data were not adamata	bidn't
Experience Started faming Mafore 1933	206	1	1.21	8-14	29.8	06.3
In 1953 or later	145	47.6	8.60	57.4	30.1	12.6
Average gross income						
Under \$6500	151	48.4	13.9	62.5	23.8	13.9
\$6500 and above	176	61.9	1.60	0-11	25•0	04.0
Squity						
Greater than 95%	175	52.0	14.9	66.9	24.0	1.60
95% or less	137	57.7	9.90	64.3	29.2	06.6
fain product						
Hogs	95	53.8	07.5	61.3	50.1	08.6
Wheat	64	55.7	15.2	70.9	26.6	02.5
Dairy	55	56.4	14.5	70.9	21.8	07.3
Corn and other feed	48	52.el	06.3	58.4	25.0	16.7
Beef and cheep	27	40.7	1.11	81.8	40.7	07.4
Others *	52	61.5	11.5	75.0	15.4	11.5
All farmers	354	54.2	0.11	65.2	26.3	8.5

"Others" includes tobacoo, soybeans and flar, beans, vegetables and truck erops, poultry and eggs, fruit, and not assertainable.

surprising. Hearly every, if not all of the farmers, regardless of product, utilised some machinery. For that reason, the example was one equally familiar to all groups and it could be reasoned that they would respond to it similarly.

Real Responses to Use of Analysis and Type of Reasoning. Table 27 shows the relation of answers given by farmers regarding the adequacy of data in marginal form for determining the profitability of additional machinery investment to use of analysis and type of reasoning used by these farmers when making machinery investment decisions on their own farms. (These categories were coded from responses given by farmers to question 20, appendix. A more complete explanation of the groupings was made in the discussion of Table 22.)

Fifty six and nine-tenths per cent of the fammers who used analysis indicated that the marginal data were adequate to determine the profitability of additional machinery investment (understanding verified), while only 44.4 per cent of those farmers who did not use analysis correctly answered the question. Study of Table 22 indicated that farmers who used analysis more adequately determined that the average data were not adequate. It has been shown here that farmers who used analysis were also better able to judge data in marginal form. It may be implied then that a relationship exists between the use of analysis by farmers and their grasp of average and marginal reasoning.

A comparison of the types of reasoning used by the farmers who analyzed machinery problems on their own farms gave no clear-out implications. With only five farmers included in the group that used inductive reasoning, very little could be determined. It was noted, however, that 58.1 per cent of the 74 farmers who used an integrated inductive-deductive type of reasoning

Relation of farmers' conception of adequacy of data in marginal form in determining proficability of additional machinery investment to use of analysis by farmers when buying machinery. Table 27.

I

.....

			OR	TELEDINE ME	0	
and and a sed meaning	alfumber of	Indicated marg	inal data were	adequatesIn	dicated margina	1
Survoenal num arstruur	: fermers :	Understandings	Understandings	-	data were not	s Didn't
		verified :	unverified :	Total :	adequate	s know
lse of analysis						
Was used	160	56.9	10.6	67.5	24.4	8.1
Was not used	18	44.4	27.8	72.2	22.2	5.6
ype of resoning						
Inductive	10	60.00	0.0	60.0	40.0	0.0
Deduetive	47	55.2	10.6	63.8	23.4	12.8
Integrated inductive						
deductive process	74	58.1	09.6	67.6	25.7	6.8
dl farmers	364	54.2	11.0	65.2	26.3	8.5
and the second se			A LOCAL OF ADDRESS OF ADDRES	And in case of the local division of the loc	A REAL PROPERTY OF A REAL PROPER	The supervision of the supervisi

indicated the marginal data were adequate with understanding verified, compared to 55.2 per cent for the 47 farmers who used deductive reasoning. As a whole, the understanding of farmers in these groups was not different from that for all farmers.

Summary. The entire chain leading to a marginal analysis, machinery investment problem, has been examined, and the empirical results were largely as hypothesized.

The following groups demonstrated a superior understanding of marginal analysis for the machinery problem:

- 1. Figured costs and returns
- 2. Younger farmers
- S. More educated farmers
- 4. Experienced farmers

5. Used analysis to decide on machinery investment on own farm

Summary, Average and Marginal Analysis, Machinery Problem. As for the hog problem, the original responses to the adequacy of the data in average form and in marginal form for the machinery problem were as expected.

		Percentage Data adequate	of farmers responding Data not adequate	Don't know
Data	in average form	35.9	56.8	7.3
Data	in marginal form	65.2	26.5	8.5

Farmers predominantly indicated that the data in average form were not adequate and that the data in marginal form were adequate. Also, as for the other problem, farmers were more accurate on their answers to the marginal data. Again, the results were more conclusive when various other factors in the chain were related to responses to the marginal data than to responses to the data in average form. The percentage of don't know answers was considerably smaller for the machinery problem than for the hog problem.

SUMMARY

Integration of Results

This study has been concerned with possible determinants of and the relationship between hypothesised links in the chain of processes leading to marginal analysis. It was believed that the chain was interrelated so that the whole framework would necessarily form a structure. The interdependence of the system was suggested by the following hypotheses.

- That farmers use or are capable of using deductive reasoning, and this is necessary if they are also to figure costs and returns.
- That farmers figure costs and returns, and this is necessary if they are to use marginal analysis.
- That the use of each stage of the process is also influenced by external conditioning factors.

These steps were all tested empirically with data obtained from farmers.

The study proceeded by first building up to a marginal analysis. Verifications regarding the character and strength of the structure supporting marginal analysis were accomplished by substantiation of hypotheses one, two, and three.

The use of marginal analysis was studied in the next phase. This was done by the use of two hypothetical problems: a hog production problem and a machinery investment problem. In each problem the approach was the same, with data being presented in both marginal and average form. Responses given by farmers to the data in marginal form were of primary interest. Data in average form were also used because it was believed that something could also be learned from the characteristics of farmers who were able to recognize the limitations of this method of figuring.

The study was especially successful in the results obtained from the analysis of the marginal data proper. This was true for both of the hypothetical problems.

The direct relationship of marginal analysis to each developing step was studied. If the hypotheses mentioned were valid, the same pattern of answers, it was argued, would result by relating use of marginal analysis to primary steps directly or to primary steps indirectly through intermediate steps. Empirical results consistently verified these similarities for all of the hypothesized steps.

Of all the external conditioning factors studied, only age and education showed consistent relations to the use of analytical processes by farmers. It would be fair to generalize that a higher percentage of farmers who are young and a higher percentage who are better educated used analysis at each level.

Further study was made of the responses given to the two hypothetical problems as related to analysis and reasoning used by these farmers when handling actual problems on their farms. In general, methods and analyses used by farmers on their farms were consistent with responses given to the hypothetical problems. Consistency of real world responses with answers given to hypothetical problems served to verify the value of responses to the problems.

Implications

Findings have indicated that farmers vary considerably in their application of marginal analysis and/or steps leading to marginal analysis.

If agencies are to provide a maximum of useful information they must take into account the fact that some farmers are capable of and do perform these different steps leading to and including marginal analysis, and that other farmers stop at different points along the way.

It is apparent that all information beamed towards farmers at a given level in the chain will not be most effective in total. Different farmers need different degrees of refinement in the data that are made available to them. Some farmers will be capable of using information of an even more refined nature, while there will be other farmers whose analytical processes have not been developed to the point that they can use such information.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The assistance given by Dale A. Knight, Assistant Professor, Agricultural Economics, Kansas State College, in the preparation of this thesis is greatly acknowledged.

The suggestions of others in the Department of Economics and Sociology, Kansas State College, were also deeply appreciated.

REFERENCES

- Agricultural Experiment Station. <u>Proceedings of Research Conference on</u> <u>Risk and Uncertainty in Agriculture</u>. North Dakots Agricultural Goliege, Farge, North Dakots, 1955.
- (2) Bradford, Lawrence A. and Glenn L. Johnson. <u>Farm Management Analysis</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1953.
- (5) Dean, Gerald W. <u>Factors Related to Economic Decisions of Farmers</u>. Unpublished M. S. Thesis, Iowa State College, Ames, Iowa, 1955.
- (4) Haney, Lowis H. <u>History of Economic Thought</u>. New York: The Macmillan Company, 1949.
- (5) Heady, Earl O. <u>Beonomics of Agricultural Production and Resource Use</u>. New York: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1952.
- (6) Johnson, Glenn L. <u>Managerial Concepts for Agriculturalists</u>. Kentucky Agricultural Experiment Station Bulletin 619. 1954.
- (7) Johnson, Glenn L. and Cecil B. Haver. <u>Decision-Making Principles in</u> <u>Farm Management</u>. Kentucky Agricultural Experiment Station Bulletin 595. 1955.
- (8) Knight, Frank H. <u>Risk</u>, <u>Uncertainty</u>, <u>and Profit</u>. Boston and New York: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1921.
- (9) Searles, Herbert L. Logie and Scientific Methods. New York: The Ronald Press Company, 1948.

APPENDIX

Survey Questions Used in the Analysis

10. In figuring out what action to take on the basis of the information you have about a problem, do you sometimes look at what it will cost you and compare this, both financially and otherwise, with the results you can expect?

No: Why is it that you don't do this?

Yes: Do you ever try to work out the answers in writing?

No

Yes: Can you tell me some of the things you've done this for?

Do you sometimes do this figuring in your head?

No

- Yes: Can you tell me some of the things you've done this for?
- Here is a way for a farmer to figure out the costs and returns of expanding a 15 litter hog enterprise to 25 litters.
 - a. The farmer figures that his costs per litter will increase from \$210 to \$222. With the price of hogs remaining as at present, he will gross \$270 per litter. On this basis, if he expands his hog enterprise to 25 litters, his net profit per litter will be \$48, or the difference between the \$270 and \$222.

Would these figures tell you how many litters this farmer should raise?

Yes: How many litters should be raise?

No

Don't know

b. Here is another way to figure out the same problem.

He figures his costs and returns on each additional litter and finds that each one will add or lose the following amounts after costs are subtracted.

	Profit	Loss		Profit	Loss
16th litte	r \$80	-	21st litter	\$14	-
17th litte	r 72	-	22nd litter	7	-
18th litte	r 59		23rd litter	-	\$11
19th litte	r 45	-	24th 11ther	-	15
20th litte	r 30		25th litter	-	20

Would these figures tell you how many litters this farmer should raise?

Yes: How many litters should he raise?

No

Don't know

c. Which way do you figure out costs and returns in similar situations?

Uses &. Uses b. Uses both Uses another method: How would you figure it out?

12. a. Here is the information that a farmer has for deciding whether or not to put another \$250 into machinery. (INTERVIEWER PRESENT CARD) * His records indicate that his average gross income per \$250 invested in machinery is \$450. The average returns above fuel and labor costs per \$250 invested in machinery are \$275. Is this enough information to decide whether or not a farmer should invest another \$250 in machinerv?

Yes: For what reasons?

No: Why not?

Don't know: What difficulties are you having in figuring this out?_____.

*A card stating this problem was given the respondent for reference while answering the question.

b. Here is enother way for him to figure it out. (INTERVIEWER PRESENT CARD)* An analysis of records from his farm and other similar farms indicates that additional investments in machinery can be expected to return 25% on the dollar after the earnings of all other expenditures and investments are accounted for. This 25% includes profits. interest on the machinery investment figured at 5%, and depreciation figured at 10%. Is this enough information to decide whether or not a farmer should invest another \$250 in machinery?

Yes: For what reasons?

No: Why not?

Don't know: What difficulties are you having in figuring this out?

*A card stating this problem was given the respondent for reference while answering the question.

- 13. Two methods of arriving at conclusions are illustrated by the examples on this card (INTERVIEWER PRESENT CARD)*
 - 1. In some cases we draw conclusions from experience. Thus, we may notice that in certain situations certain results always seem to follow. On the basis of this, we conclude that these results always occur in this situation. An example might occur in fertilising a field. Thus, if a farmer sees that the poor thin spots in a field respond to fertilisers more than the rich spots, he may conclude that poor thin spots always respond more than rich spots.
 - 2. In other cases, we "reason out" conclusions about new situations facing us from facts and principles we know or assume to be true. For instance, a farmer may know or assume that a certain barn arrangement will save labor and them "figure out" how the use of this arrangement would affect the amount of labor which would be left over for use elsewhere in his business.
 - a. Do you use both, mainly one, only one, or neither of these methods in arriving at conclusions?
 - Both Mainly one: Which? Only one: Which? Neither Don't know

b. Which of these thinking methods is most natural for you to use?

_____Both _____Neither _____Don't know

c. Can you use one of these methods without using the other?

Yes No Don't know

ċ

d. What proportion of your thinking is like the first method? (PRESENT CHECKLIST)**

None Less than 1/4	About 1/2 Between 1/2 and	3/4 Don't know how
About 1/4	About 8/4	much, but not all
Between 1/4 and 1/2	More than 8/4	No answer

*A card illustrating methods 1 and 2 of arriving at conclusions was given the respondent for reference while answering the question. **The respondent indicated the proportions by means of a checklist. e. What proportion of your thinking is like the second method? (PRESENT CHECKLIST)*

		None About 1/ Less than 1/4 Between 1/4 About 1/4 About 5/ Between 1/4 and 1/2 More that	2 1/2 and 3/4 4 n 3/4	All Don't kn much, bu No answe	now how it not all or
	f.	Could you give me another example arriving at conclusions?	of the first	method of	
	g.	Could you give me another example	of the second	l method?	
.7. C	could 3	you please tell me how you made up y h product to produce this year?	our mind abou	it what or	how much
.8. a	. What fai	at important thing that you buy and irly big change in price recently?	use in produc	tion has 1	ad a (X)
b	. What	at do you use it for?	(1)		
0	use	w did you make up your mind about ho e in producingY, when the	price of	X	to changed?
80• W	that we	as the last major piece of machinery	that you bou	ight?	
H	low did	d you go about making up your mind t	o buy it?		

*The respondent indicated the propertions by means of a enecklist.

USE AND INTERRELATION OF MARGINAL ANALYSIS AND OTHER ANALYTICAL PROCESSES BY FARMERS IN DECISION MAKING

by

ROBERT WALLACE GREVE

B. S., Kansas State College of Agriculture and Applied Science, 1955

AN ABSTRACT OF A THESIS

submitted in partial fulfillment of the

.

requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Economics and Sociology

KANSAS STATE COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE AND APPLIED SCIENCE

This study has been concerned with possible determinants of and the relationship between hypothesised links in the chain of processes leading to marginal analysis. It was believed that the chain was interrelated so that the whole framework would necessarily form a structure. The interdependence of the system was suggested by the following hypotheses.

- That farmers use or are capable of using deductive reasoning, and this is necessary if they are also to figure costs and returns.
- That farmers figure costs and returns, and this is necessary if they are to use marginal analysis.
- That the use of each stage of the process is also influenced by external conditioning factors.

The use of these steps was tested with data obtained by interview from 1075 farmers. These farmers were from selected areas of the following seven states: Kentucky, Ohio, Indiana, Michigan, North Dakota, Iowa, and Kansas. Random sampling was conducted within areas, and the universe consisted of farmers with gross incomes of 2500 dollars or more. This particular study was part of a much larger study from which only certain questions were singled out for intensive analysis.

The study proceeded by first building up to a marginal analysis. Verifications regarding the character and strength of the structure supporting marginal analysis were accomplished by substantiation of hypotheses one, two, and three.

The use of marginal analysis was studied in the next phase. This was done by the use of two hypothetical problems. One problem covered the most profitable number of litters of pigs to produce, and the second dealt with the most profitable level of machinery investment.

Data, both averages and marginals, were a part of each problem. Farmers

were asked to appraise the adequacy of the data in each form toward solving the problem. The purpose of these two problems was to test farmers' understanding of average and marginal analysis.

1

Responses given by farmers to the data in marginal form were of primary interest. Data in average form were also used because it was believed that something could also be learned from the characteristics of farmers who were able to recognize the limitations of this method of figuring. The results obtained from the analysis of the marginal data proper were especially successful. This was true for both of the hypothetical problems.

The direct relationship of marginal analysis to each developing step was studied. If the hypotheses mentioned were valid, the same pattern of answers, it was argued, would result by relating use of marginal analysis to primary steps directly or to primary steps indirectly through intermediate steps. Empirical results consistently verified these similarities for all of the hypothesized steps.

Only age and education, of all the external conditioning factors studied, showed consistent relations to the use of analytical processes by farmers. It would be fair to generalize that a higher percentage of farmers who are young and a higher percentage who are better educated used analysis at each level.

Purther study was made of the responses given to the two hypothetical problems as related to analysis and reasoning used by these farmers when handling actual problems on their farms. In general, methods and analyses used by farmers on their farms were consistent with responses given to the hypothetical problems. Consistency of real world responses with answers given to hypothetical problems served to strengthen the value of responses to the problems.